UNIT I.  PROVING INTENTIONAL DISCRIMINATION 

A.  The Structure of the Statutes

KRAMARSKY v. STAHL MANAGEMENT

401 N.Y.S.2d 943 (N.Y. Sup. 1977)

EDWARD J. GREENFIELD, Justice.

 

This is an application … for an order enjoining respondents from selling, renting, leasing, or otherwise disposing of Apartment 9J at 225 West 106th Street to anyone other than petitioner until final determination of a complaint against respondent Stahl Management now pending before the State Division of Human Rights.

 

The application is based upon a complaint of discrimination by one Judith Pierce, a black divorced woman, who contends that Stahl Management unlawfully discriminated against her by refusing to rent an apartment because of her race, sex and marital status.  In support of that contention, she points to the willingness of the respondent to rent an apartment to a later white applicant.

 

Respondent denies any illegal discrimination insisting that Ms. Pierce was not turned down because she was black, female or divorced, but for other reasons. In support of this contention, he demonstrates that 30% of his apartments have been rented to blacks, including the last two for which there were both black and white applicants and that 60% of the apartments have been rented to unmarried persons.  The reason for her rejection, the landlord contends, is that her application indicated that in the eyes of the landlord she would be an undesirable tenant.

 

The application form is a one page sheet in which Ms. Pierce indicated that she was employed as general counsel to the New York City Commission on Human Rights, that she had earned a salary of $28,000 plus a year and that she had previously been employed with the Legal Services Corporation.  Under the space for Repairs and Remarks she had written in “Painting New Rulings”.  Mr. Stahl, the individual who operated the respondent, candidly admits that that information on the application indicated that “she would be a source of trouble to me as a tenant.”  Rather than a lawyer attuned to her legal rights, he would have preferred, all other things being equal, a person who was likely to be less informed and more passive.



The Human Rights Law (Executive Law, Art.15) provides in §296, Subdivision 5:

(a) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for the owner, lessee, sub‑lessee, assignee, or managing agent of, or other person having the right to sell, rent or lease a housing accommodation, constructed or to be constructed, or any agent or employee thereof:


(1) To refuse to sell, rent, lease or otherwise to deny to or withhold from any person or group of persons such a housing accommodation because of the race, creed, color, national origin, sex, or disability or marital status of such person or persons.


(2) To discriminate against any person because of his race, creed, color, national origin, sex, or disability or marital status in the terms, conditions or privileges of the sale, rental or lease of any such housing accommodation or in the furnishing of facilities or services in connection therewith.



Absent a supervening statutory proscription, a landlord is free to do what he wishes with his property, and to rent or not to rent to any given person at his whim.  The only restraints which the law has imposed upon free exercise of his discretion is that he may not use race, creed, color, national origin, sex or marital status as criteria.  So, regrettable though it may be, a landlord can employ other criteria to determine the acceptability of his tenants occupational, physical or otherwise.  He may decide not to rent to singers because they are too noisy, or not to rent to bald‑headed men because he has been told they give wild parties.  He can bar his premises to the lowest strata of society, should he choose, or to the highest, if that be his personal desire.




Thus, this court concludes that there is nothing illegal in a landlord discriminating against lawyers as a group, or trying to keep out of his building intelligent persons, aware of their rights, who may give him trouble in the future. … Although the courts, in the interest of justice, will endeavor to facilitate to the fullest the legislative intent and public policy underlying antidiscrimination legislation, the facts and circumstances of this case do not warrant injunctive relief.  The court is not persuaded that there is a reasonable likelihood that the charge of discrimination can be sustained. Accordingly, the application is denied and the temporary restraining order vacated.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1.  Look at the section of the New York City Human Rights Law cited in the case.  What would a claimant have to prove to establish a violation of this provision.

2.  What is the significance in Kramarsky of the phrase, “Painting New Rulings”?
B.  Direct Proof

1.  INTRODUCTION TO PROOF ISSUES

I  Two Kinds of Discrimination Claims

 
A.  Disparate treatment: decision-maker treated plaintiff differently because 


of protected characteristic.  Two ways to prove:


1.  Direct proof:  introduce evidence tending to show intent (available against both gov’t and private defendants).
2.  McDonnell Douglas burden shift: Courts allow plaintiff to proceed with case if s/he presents a more limited set of evidence that shifts burden of production to defendant (available only against private defendants).

B.  Disparate impact: decision-maker took action harmful to claimant pursuant to neutral policy with disproportionate impact on people who share protected characteristic.  (Covered in Unit IV)

II.  Three Legal Bases for Federal Housing Discrimination Claims

A.  Equal Protection Clause (U.S. Constitution, 14th Amendment)

1.  Complex caselaw re what characteristics covered



2.  Generally speaking, only government defendants

3.  No cases use McDonnell-Douglas burden shift

4.  Washington v. Davis: no disparate impact claims


B.  Civil Rights Act of 1866 (42 USC §1982)  



1.  Prohibits only race-based discrimination



2.  Applies to private or government defendants

3.  Lower courts have applied McDonnell-Douglas burden shift against private defendants


4.  No impact claims under §1981; §1982 probably same


C.  Fair Housing Act (42 USC §3601 et seq.; FHA; Title VIII)

1.  Prohibits discrimination based on listed characteristics

2.  Applies to private or government defendants

3.  Lower courts have applied McDonnell-Douglas burden shift against private defendants

4.  Lower courts allow disparate impact claims


D.  Table summarizing this information: 

	SUMMARY TABLE
	14th Amdt.
	§1982
	FHA

	Direct Proof
	Y
	y
	y

	McDonnell-Douglas
	N
	~y
	y

	Disparate Impact
	N
	~n
	~y


~ = Some Uncertainty
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2.  PRIVATE DEFENDANTS

SORENSON v. RAYMOND

532 F.2d 496 (5th Cir. 1976)

GEE, Circuit Judge:  The major question in this case is whether an out-of-court admission that conduct was motivated by racial prejudice may be explained away in court like other such liability-creating declarations or whether it is final and fatal.  We hold that it may be explained.

Appellants are a white couple who seek compensatory and punitive damages under 42 U.S.C. §1982,2 plus attorneys’ fees and costs. The defendant is their former landlord, who allegedly evicted them because they entertained two black guests.  They appeal a judgment entered on special jury verdicts finding that race was not a significant factor in their landlord’s decision to evict them and that they suffered no damages from the eviction.

  
In detail, appellants complain that the trial court should have ...  (2) granted them a directed verdict on the liability issue ... ; (3) granted them a new trial because the verdict is contrary to the greater weight of the evidence; (4) granted them a new trial because of prejudicial comments by appellee’s counsel about possible drug use by appellants; and (5) prohibited appellee from using his peremptory challenges to exclude blacks from the jury.  Finding no error in the jury verdict or the court’s rulings, we affirm.

One day during the tenth month of appellants Brad and Gail Sorenson’s year lease, landlord Raymond, after appellants had said they would not be home,3 entered their apartment to find appellants and four other persons, including two black girls4 and a prior tenant whom Raymond disliked.  Inviting Brad Sorenson downstairs, Raymond announced that appellants must vacate their apartment, responding “Yes,” when Sorenson inquired whether the presence of two black girls had caused Raymond’s decision.  Raymond later testified that his true motive was fury at discovering the presence of an objectionable former tenant and a large number of people preparing for a party.  Additionally, he chronicled the frequent complaints by other tenants about loud music, late parties, strewn trash, and other irritating practices by appellants, and he related his concern for the physical condition of his apartment.  He insisted that he had responded affirmatively to Sorenson’s inquiry about the two black girls in an impassioned effort to anger Sorenson, having no later opportunity to give his real reasons for the eviction.5  

II.  Directed Verdict And New Trial.  To find a violation of section 1982’s prohibition of racial discrimination in the sale or rental of property, this court in United States v. Pelzer Realty Co., 484 F.2d 438, 443 (5th Cir. 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 936 (1974), declared that the finder of fact must rule that race is at least “one significant factor” in the apartment rental decision. Appellants claim that they deserved a directed verdict on the ground that the use of discriminatory language coupled with the loss of rights makes motive or intent irrelevant, and for support they rely primarily on language in Pelzer that

it is not necessary to show that (defendant) intended to deprive (the victims) of rights granted by the (Fair Housing) Act.  A violation occurred because his words had that effect.

Id. at 443.  But the Pelzer court, faced with an alleged violation of [§3604(b), which] prohibits discrimination in the terms of sale or rental of a dwelling, found that a verbal demand made of these blacks that would not have been made of whites11 was discriminatory treatment, regardless of motivation, because the unretracted words themselves imposed on blacks a condition which was not imposed on similarly-situated whites.

In support of its ruling, the Pelzer court cited U.S. v. Mintzes, 304 F.Supp. 1305 (D.Md. 1969), which found illegal attempts by whites to induce homeowners to sell their dwellings by representations regarding the prospective entry of blacks into the neighborhood.  The representations were themselves actions which violated the “anti-blockbusting” statute, 42 U.S.C. §3604(e), which prohibits attempted inducements to sell using such racially oriented representations, regardless of racial motivation. As to them, there was no question of motive, for they were actionable regardless of the intent with which they were uttered and were specifically made so by statute. Here, however, the questioned conduct challenged as violative of §1982’s prohibition of discrimination in the sale or rental of property, is only evidence of the violation a racially-discriminatory motive, not the violation itself.  It may be that there are circumstances where the evidence of racial motivation can be so conclusively inferred from a defendant’s words that a court might direct a verdict based on words alone.  But where, as here, the only objectionable word uttered was an inculpatory “Yes,” it would be unjust to deny a defendant the opportunity to explain in his defense that he did not intend to speak the words or that his words, provoked by a leading question, were intended only to enrage, not to convey truthful information.

Appellants argue in the alternative that the evidence so strongly supports a finding that race was a dominant factor in the eviction decision that they were entitled to either a directed verdict or a new trial.  But after examining the record, we cannot say that the evidence, considered in the light most favorable to appellee, so strongly supports appellants that they deserved a directed verdict.  Nor can we say that the verdict was so contrary to the greater weight of the evidence that we should find that the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to grant a new trial.  ...

III.  Prejudicial Comments.  After a ruling that appellee could not introduce testimony that a tenant suspected appellants of using marijuana, appellee called Brad Sorenson as an adverse witness, inquired whether he had ever used his apartment for unlawful purposes, and when Sorenson said no, asked whether he had ever used marijuana. This conduct by appellee’s counsel borders on intentional misconduct in disregarding the judge’s prior ruling and admonition against introducing any evidence of possible drug usage by appellants.14  But the trial judge immediately instructed the jury to disregard the question, making no further explanation to the jury only because appellants’ counsel asked him not to.  In these circumstances, since the question elicited no damaging information, we cannot say that the prejudicial question made the proceeding so manifestly unfair that the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to grant a new trial.

IV.  Peremptory Challenges.  Appellants argue that appellee denied them a fair trial with a representative jury by using his peremptory challenges to eliminate all blacks from the jury.  But the Supreme Court has recognized that the peremptory challenge cannot be subject to judicial review even when exercised by the prosecution along racial lines, because the fairness of trial by an impartial jury requires no less.  Swain v. State of Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 220-22 (1965).  If discriminatory use of peremptory challenges by a government official cannot be challenged, then a fortiori, such practices by a private party are beyond this court’s power to review.

Conclusion.  Neither we nor our district courts sit to pass upon the taste of litigants or the attractiveness of their positions.  Our commitment is to truth and process, with emphasis on the former below and the latter here.  A careful inquiry into the process observed in the district court has not convinced us that the truth was not served.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.  What evidence supported the plaintiff in Sorenson?  What evidence supported the defendant?  Whose story do you find more convincing?  Assuming the appellate court found the defendant’s story unconvincing, why didn’t it reverse the decision?  
4.  How did Sorenson distinguish Pelzer and Mintzes?
5.  Assume you represent the plaintiffs.  What arguments can you make as to how the alleged errors discussed in Parts III and IV of Sorenson harmed your clients’ chances for a fair trial?  What is the purpose of footnote 14? 
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MARABLE v. H. WALKER &  ASSOCIATES

644 F.2d 390 (5th Cir. 1981)
JOHNSON, Jr., J .  Sylvester Marable brought this suit alleging that defendants Harold and Francis Walker refused to rent an available apartment to him because he is black, in violation of the Fair Housing Act. . . . The district court rendered judgment for defendants after a non‑jury trial, concluding that the defendants did not discriminate against Marable on the basis of ...  race.... The district court found that the apartment was denied to Marable because he had a credit report that showed him to be an unacceptable tenant, he was single and the apartment complex had a policy of renting to families and married persons only, and he “constantly harassed” defendants about his application after it was submitted.  Marable appeals... .

Defendants Harold and Francis Walker own the Traces Apartments, a 56‑unit apartment complex located in a predominantly white suburb of Birmingham, Alabama.  Each of the apartments has either two or three bedrooms.  When these apartments were first being rented, beginning in April 1974, defendants rented to at least eight single males and also to tenants with poor or no credit histories3, with poor or unverified employment records4, and with poor or no rental histories.5  Thereafter, defendants adopted a policy of renting to married couples and families, in part, Mrs. Walker stated, because they had some trouble with single male tenants.  Francis Walker became the managing partner of the Traces Apartments on February 3, 1976.  She testified at trial that since that time no single males had rented apartments and that only three single females and one widow had rented at the Traces.  However, she 
stated that applications were taken from singles on a case by case basis.  Mrs. Walker testified that from 1974 until 1978, the time of trial, out of 209 tenancy turnovers, defendants had rented to 22 non‑married tenants, including ten single white males.7 She testified that the Traces Apartments had never had a black tenant.   

   
Sylvester Marable submitted his application for tenancy in the Traces Apartments in November 1976.  The resident manager, Mark Hammond, showed Marable a vacant apartment and told him that he would be contacted in a few days about his application.  Marable was accompanied during his first visit to the Traces Apartments by his fiancee.8  He testified that he told Hammond of his anticipated marriage in December 1976 but Hammond contradicted this testimony, although Hammond stated that he assumed at that time that Marable and his companion were married.  After Hammond showed him the apartment, Marable and his fiancée returned to the resident manager’s office where he completed a credit application.  No deposit was placed.9  Shortly after Marable left, Hammond telephoned the credit information to a credit reporting company named Equifax, which proceeded to prepare a credit report on Marable.  Several days later, Marable was contacted by a Mrs. Sims, from Equifax, for the purpose of interviewing Marable concerning the facts stated on the credit application given to Hammond.10
    
The Equifax credit report on Marable, which was defendants’ only source of information regarding his credit standing, disclosed that Marable had worked for the Feather Corporation as a public affairs consultant at an estimated annual salary of $ 14,000 for the previous 8 1/2 months.  The report noted that Equifax had been unable to contact Feather or determine the type of business in which it was engaged; it described the nature of the business as an “independent corporation.”11 However, the report also indicated that Marable worked full time steadily and that his prospects for continued employment were regarded as good.12 

   
The Equifax credit report also contained the results of an investigation of credit references supplied by Marable.  The report listed his account with a music company as satisfactory and noted that an account that he had set up with a furniture company had never been used.  A jewelry store at which Marable had an account was listed as having a policy of not disclosing credit information.13 A bank loan account (for an automobile) listed in the report showed that Marable had borrowed $ 10,689, that $ 6,104 was owed at the time of the report, and that the loan terms included 42 payments at $ 254.72 per month.  The amount past due was listed as none and Marable’s credit rating was listed as “I‑2.”14 The report also stated that Marable had never been subject to any foreclosures, garnishments, suits or judgments regarding debts, or bankruptcies.  The report also indicated that Marable had not previously rented or owned a home and that before working for the Feather Corporation he had worked for the State of Alabama as a parole officer for   1 1/2 years.  Marable’s net worth was estimated at $ 7,000.  The report concluded that there were no factors that might affect doing business with Marable on a credit basis.

    
Later on the same day that Marable was interviewed by Mrs. Sims from Equifax, he phoned Mrs. Walker who told him that as soon as she received the Equifax report she would contact him.  Mrs. Walker testified that Marable accused her of stalling and of not wanting to rent to him because he was black.  She testified that until Marable informed her she was unaware that he was black.  Mrs. Walker received the report on December 10, 1976, and on that day Marable phoned Mrs. Walker.  Marable testified that Mrs. Walker asked him why he wanted to live on that side of town and then laughed at him and told him that she did not rent to unmarried applicants.  Mrs. Walker testified that until she received the credit report she was unaware that Marable was single.  Later that same day Marable again phoned Mrs. Walker requesting an explanation as to why he was rejected as a tenant.  Marable claimed at trial that Mrs. Walker refused to give him any further explanation, but Mrs. Walker testified that she told him that, in addition to his single marital status, he lacked sufficient credit and had no previous rental history, and that his employer and his income could not be verified.  She also testified that Marable “got a little smart” with her during the phone call when she told him that he would not get the apartment.  The apartment for which Marable had applied remained vacant for three months, until it was rented to a white single female with no children.

   
After being refused as a tenant, Marable then went to the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) . . . and filed a charge against defendants alleging that they discriminated against him on the basis of his race in refusing to rent to him.  Defendants told the HUD investigator that Marable was rejected as a tenant because he had minimal credit references and had never previously rented an apartment.  Mrs. Walker did not tell HUD that she had earlier stated that she refused to rent to Marable because of his single marital status.  She admitted at trial that she gave other reasons for rejecting Marable because she was not certain that it was legal to refuse to rent to Marable on the ground of single marital status.  HUD concluded from its investigation that defendants denied Marable an apartment because of his race.... 

   
Defendants have asserted different reasons at different times for rejecting Marable as a tenant.  As mentioned above, they told a HUD investigator that Marable’s inadequate credit and rental history were the reasons he was rejected. In their answer to the complaint the only asserted reason was 
Marable’s single marital status.  In their answers to Marable’s first interrogatories, Marable’s alleged credit deficiencies were listed as the reason for defendants’ refusal to rent to him.  At trial, two more reasons were stated: Marable was “a little smart” with Mrs. Walker during one phone call, and he was employed with a “new” company.

The district court found that Marable was denied the apartment because of his single marital status, his credit report and his constant harassment of defendants.  The court discounted the testimony of two of Marable’s witnesses on the ground that they evidenced clear bias because one of the witnesses was under indictment for stealing from defendants and the other was involved in civil litigation with defendants.  The court further stated that “plaintiff demonstrated a lack of credibility in his testimony both because of contradictions in his testimony and by his own manner and demeanor in court.” The court found that Marable’s credit report was unacceptable because he claimed an estimated $ 14,000  yearly income with a “nonexistent corporation” and he had “no significant employment history.” The court concluded that defendants were justified in refusing to rent to Marable solely on the basis of his credit report. 

A plaintiff bringing a claim under the Fair Housing  Act  charging defendants with refusal to provide housing on the basis of racial discrimination is not required to establish that his denial of housing was motivated solely by racial discrimination. It is sufficient that race was one significant factor considered by the defendants in dealing with the plaintiff.  The district court’s determination that the defendants did not discriminate against Marable is a finding of ultimate fact with respect to which this Court is not bound by the clearly erroneous standard of review. However, the trial court’s credibility determinations and findings of subsidiary fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. “A finding is “clearly erroneous’ when although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed.” United States Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364, 395 (1948).

Several of the district court’s findings of subsidiary facts are not supported by the record and are clearly erroneous.  The finding that Marable claimed an estimated annual salary of $ 14,000 “with what proved to be a nonexistent corporate employer” was refuted by defendants’ own exhibit which consisted of a copy of the article of incorporation of the Feather Corporation. The finding that Marable had “no significant employment history” is belied by Marable’s credit report itself, which informed the defendants that he had been working full time for 8 1/2 months and had previously worked as a parole officer for the State of Alabama for 1 1/2 years, and which described his prospects for continued employment as good.

The finding that Marable was denied the apartment because he was single and the Traces had a policy of renting only to families and marrieds is contradicted by Mrs. Walker’s own testimony that applications were accepted from singles on a case by case basis and that 22 of the total 209 tenants at the Traces had been singles.  It is manifest from the documentary evidence and the testimony of Mrs. Walker that apartments were in fact rented to singles, and the exceptions made by defendants constitute over 10% of all the tenants who had ever rented at the Traces.


The finding that one of defendants’ reasons for refusing to rent to Marable was because he “constantly harassed” the defendants is without support in the record.  Even the testimony of Mark Hammond, the resident manager of the Traces, and that of Mrs. Walker does not warrant a finding that three phone calls to Mrs. Walker and two to Hammond constituted constant harassment.  Neither Mrs. Walker nor Hammond claimed that they were “harassed” by Marable.  Mrs. Walker testified merely that Marable got “a little smart” during one phone call but her perception that Marable, a young black man, was uppity toward her does not support the court’s finding.17 . . .

The district court in this case failed to consider in its findings the evidence indicating that the defendants’ credit and employment requirements and their single male exclusionary policy were unequally applied as between Marable and white applicants.  The court also failed to consider whether defendants’ rejection of Marable’s application for tenancy was a pretext for racial discrimination.

  Marable introduced documentary evidence consisting of applications for tenancy listing credit references and credit reports prepared by a credit agency, which demonstrated that defendants rented to numerous white persons with significant credit problems far greater than any deficiencies indicated by Marable’s credit report.18 Similarly, the undisputed evidence indicated that defendants had rented to (1) numerous tenants with unverified incomes, (2) several who were unemployed or who worked for companies with which the defendants were unfamiliar when they were accepted as tenants, and (3) several others for whom defendants ordered no independent credit report to be prepared. Also, by defendants’ own admission in the testimony of Mrs. Walker, at least 10 single white males had rented at the Traces.  The defendants’ disparate treatment of white applicants and Marable, as reflected by their patterns of accepting white applicants who were credit risks or who were single, is clearly reflected by the evidence.

The district court also erred in failing to make any finding concerning whether the defendants’ asserted reasons for refusing to rent to Marable were a pretext for racial discrimination.  The asserted reasons given by defendants have included virtually every possible reason except Marable’s race.  They have asserted, alternatively or cumulatively, at different times during this dispute, that the reasons for Marable’s rejection were his poor credit, his unverified income and unverified employer, his “smartness,” and his single marital status. The district court erred in failing to consider the comparative evidence of the unequal application of defendants’ rental criteria as between Marable and white applicants, which demonstrated that defendants’ reasons for rejecting Marable were a pretext.  The district court never considered the qualifications of Marable in relation to the qualifications of white applicants; rather, it considered Marable’s qualifications only against the defendants’ alleged absolute standards. However, 
even Mrs. Walker testified that the defendants’ rental standards were not absolute and that tenants’ applications were considered on a case by case basis.19 The defendants’ tenant selection process and criteria were shown by the testimony of Mrs. Walker and Mark Hammond to be subjective.  Finally, the defendants admitted that no black applicants had ever been accepted as tenants at the Traces Apartments. 

   
The district court discounted the testimony of Marable on the ground that it lacked credibility because of contradiction and Marable’s demeanor at trial. The court also discounted the testimony of two of Marable’s witnesses on the ground that they were biased.20 Even if it is accepted as true that Marable and two of his witnesses lacked credibility, a district court finding that is binding on this Court unless it is clearly erroneous, documentary evidence in the record clearly indicates that Marable’s race was a significant factor in his rejection as a tenant.  A district court may not “bootstrap” its findings and conclusions by stating that they are based upon credibility when the documentary evidence and undisputed testimony reflected in the record show the findings and conclusions to be clearly erroneous.

   
We conclude, after careful examination of the record, that the unequal application of defendants’ rental criteria, including marital status and employment and credit histories, as between Marable and white applicants demonstrates disparate treatment on the basis of race violating the Fair Housing Act… .    Accordingly, the judgment of the district court is REVERSED and the case is REMANDED for consideration of damages, attorney’s fees, and injunctive relief.  

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

6.  Defendants put forth several explanations in Marable for refusing to rent to the plaintiff.  For each explanation, list the evidence that supports it and the evidence that tends to refute it.  What other evidence supports the plaintiff?  What other evidence supports the defendant? 
7.  What standard did the court use to review the trial court’s decision in Marable? Do you agree with the court that the decision below met the standard for reversal? Why might the same court that had affirmed in Sorenson feel comfortable reversing in Marable?   
3.  GOVERNMENT DEFENDANTS

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

8.  In order to succeed on a discrimination claim under the U.S. Constitution or §1982, a plaintiff must prove that the defendant(s) acted with discriminatory purpose.  What does it mean to say that a legally-created corporate entity like a city had a discriminatory purpose?  Whose state of mind is relevant to determining the city’s “purpose?”  
9.  Suppose a city council votes 8-5 to pass a measure alleged to be discriminatory.  To prevail on an intentional discrimination claim, how many councilmembers must a plaintiff show had a discriminatory purpose?  Record your initial response to this question and your reasons.  Then read the Fall River case below.  What result under Fall River and the cases it relies on?  Do you agree with the reasoning and results in those cases?
SCOTT-HARRIS  v. CITY OF FALL RIVER

134 F.3d 427 (1st Cir. 1997) rev’d on other gds sub nom. 

Bogan v. Scott-Harris, 523 U.S. 44 (1998)

SELYA, Circuit Judge. [Plaintiff filed an action under 42 USC §1983 claiming the city council passed legislation eliminating her job due to racial animus arising from her treatment of a white subordinate (Bitcliffe). The opinion included the following discussion of proof of bad intent by the city:]  … The baseline principle is well-settled: legislators' bad motives may be proven by either direct or circumstantial evidenceBut this principle speaks to the qualitative nature of the evidence that is gathered; it does not address the quantitative question. That question is best framed as follows: How many municipal legislators (or, put another way, what percentage of the legislative body) must be spurred by a constitutionally impermissible motive before the municipality itself may be held liable under section 1983 for the adoption of a facially neutral policy or ordinance? This is a difficult question, and the case law proves a fickle companion.  

   
Some courts appear to have held that the plaintiff must adduce evidence sufficient to show that a majority of the members of the legislative body acted from a constitutionally proscribed motive before this kind of municipal liability can attach. Often this position is implied rather than specifically articulated.. But some courts have been more forthcoming. In Church v. City of Huntsville, 30 F.3d 1332 (11th Cir. 1994), a group of homeless persons alleged that the city had adopted a policy of excluding them from the community. The plaintiffs based their §1983 action on the acts and statements of one individual on a five-member city council. The court observed that a single council member did not have any authority either to establish municipal policy or to bind the municipality. It therefore examined the evidence against the other four councilors, finding that two had opposed the alleged policy and that two had expressed no views on the subject. The court refused to draw an inference of discriminatory intent from the silence of council members, and rejected the plaintiffs' claim.  

   
Other courts, acting principally in the areas of race and gender discrimination, have not required evidence of the motives of a majority of the legislative body before imposing liability on the municipality under section 1983. Representative of this line of cases is United States v. City of Birmingham, 538 F. Supp. 819 (E.D. Mich. 1982), aff'd, 727 F.2d 560 (6th Cir. 1984). There, the district court held a city liable for violations of the Fair Housing Act … based on the actions of a seven-member municipal commission which had blocked the construction of racially-integrated housing by a four-to-three vote. While opponents of the project had attributed their position to a series of articulated nondiscriminatory rationales, the court looked behind their avowals and ruled, based on a combination of direct and circumstantial evidence, that racial considerations actually propelled the commission's action. The court concluded that the city could be held liable for the commissioners' animus even though there was no proof of the motives of all four commissioners  who voted to kill the project; it was enough, the court suggested, if “racial considerations were a motivating factor among a significant percentage of those who were responsible for the city's [rejection of the project].”. Explicating this construct, the court indicated that a “significant percentage” would not have to encompass the entire four-person majority. Noting evidence that racial concerns motivated “at least two of the four members of the majority faction,” the court declared that “that fact alone may be sufficient to attribute a racially discriminatory intent to the City.” 8 

   
Two Massachusetts cases also premise municipal liability on evidence concerning less than a majority of the relevant legislative body. In Southern Worcester County Regional Voc. Sch. Dist. v. Labor Relations Comm'n, 436 N.E.2d 380 (Mass1982), the Supreme Judicial Court (SJC) upheld a lower court's finding that the plaintiffs had been discharged based on their union activity. The SJC declared that “it is not fatal to the [plaintiffs'] claims that only three of the seven members of the school committee made anti-union statements.” The court concluded that the three members' statements, coupled with evidence of bias on the part of the school superintendent (who had no vote), sufficed to support the finding of liability. Similarly, in Northeast Metro. Regional Voc. Sch. Dist. Sch. Comm. v. MCAD, 575 N.E.2d 77 (Mass. App. 1991), a gender discrimination case involving a refusal to hire, the court noted that direct evidence of bias had been exhibited by only two of the twelve members of the school committee. The court upheld a finding of liability based on this evidence and on statements by three other committee members that the plaintiff had been a victim of discrimination and/or had been the best qualified candidate for the job. 

   
The precedent in this area is uncertain, and persuasive arguments can be made on both sides. On the one hand, because a municipal ordinance can become law only by a majority vote of the city council, there is a certain incongruity in allowing fewer than a majority of the council members to subject the city to liability under section 1983. On the other hand, because discriminatory animus is insidious and a clever pretext can be hard to unmask, the law sometimes constructs procedural devices to ease a victim's burden of proof. See, e.g., McDonnell-Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802-05 (1973) (establishing presumptions for use in Title VII cases). Where, as here, a plaintiff alleges that a city's councilors connived to victimize her by the pretextual passage of a facially neutral ordinance, it may be overly mechanistic to hold her to strict proof of the subjective intentions of a numerical majority of council members.  

   
Cognizant of these competing concerns, we eschew for the time being a bright-line rule. Rather, we assume for argument's sake (but do not decide) that in a sufficiently compelling case the requirement that the plaintiff prove bad motive on the part of a majority of the members of the legislative body might be relaxed and a proxy accepted instead. Nevertheless, any such relaxation would be contingent on the plaintiff mustering evidence of both (a) bad motive on the part of at least a significant bloc of legislators, and (b) circumstances suggesting the probable complicity of others. By way of illustration, evidence of procedural anomalies, acquiesced in by a majority of the legislative body, may support such an inference. By like token, evidence indicating that the legislators bowed to an impermissible community animus, most commonly manifested by an unusual level of constituent pressure, may warrant such an inference. The key is likelihood: Has the plaintiff proffered evidence, direct or circumstantial, which, when reasonable inferences are drawn in her favor, makes it appear more probable (i.e., more likely than not) that discrimination was the real reason underlying the enactment of the ordinance or the adoption of the policy?  

   
The facts of this case do not require that we refine the point to any further extent. Scott-Harris has not only failed to prove that a majority of the councilors possessed a bad motive, but she also has failed to furnish enough circumstantial evidence to ground a finding that, more likely than not, a discriminatory animus propelled the City Council's action.  

   
The evidence, viewed most hospitably to the plaintiff, reveals that six of the nine councilors voted in favor of the challenged ordinance and two opposed it. The plaintiff presented sufficient evidence from which a jury could deduce that one of these six, Roderick, along with Mayor Bogan (who did not have a vote), acted out of a bad motive. The plaintiff also produced some glancing evidence apropos of Councilor Mitchell: he and Roderick were friends; Roderick spoke to him about the Biltcliffe/Scott-Harris imbroglio; and Biltcliffe called him, presumably to protest her treatment. The jury could have found from other evidence in the case that Mitchell probably voted in favor of the ordinance (although the record does not eliminate the possibility that he abstained). Even though Mitchell did not testify and the substance of his conversations with Roderick and Biltcliffe are unknown, we assume arguendo that a jury reasonably could infer that Mitchell, too, acted for a proscribed reason.


The remaining gaps in the plaintiff's proof are considerably more difficult to overlook. None of the other seven city council members uttered any untoward statements or engaged in any suspicious actions. The “we must slash the budget” pretext had a ring of plausibility, and from aught that appears, none of these seven individuals had any way of knowing that the position-elimination ordinance would not save the City sorely needed funds. Nor is there strong circumstantial evidence of complicity; indeed, the record tells us almost nothing about the inclinations of the silent seven.11 Moreover, the plaintiff made virtually no effort to adduce such evidence. She neither deposed any of the seven nor called them as witnesses at trial. She did not attempt to show that any of the other four councilors who voted for the ordinance had any basis for doubting the truth of the party line (“we must slash the budget”) or that they possessed ties to Roderick or Bogan, or that they were beholden to Biltcliffe, or that they were hostile to Scott-Harris. The stark fact is that the motivations of the council members -- other than Roderick and Mitchell -- did not receive individualized scrutiny. By any responsible standard, this sparse evidence falls short of providing a proper predicate for a finding of municipal liability.

    
We do not think it is a coincidence that in every analogous case in which municipal liability has been imposed on evidence implicating less than a majority of a legislative body, substantial circumstantial evidence existed from which the requisite discriminatory animus could be inferred. In City of Birmingham, the evidence showed that the race-based opposition of constituents to integrated  housing was widespread, pronounced, and vociferously articulated. After several members who supported the racially integrated development were ousted from office, the commission responded to this unremitting pressure and took the unprecedented step of submitting the proposal to a community referendum. In Yonkers Bd. of Educ., the requisite inference was supported by evidence of massive constituent agitation as well as by “departures from the normal procedural sequence” in respect to the challenged proposal. 

   
In this case no such evidence exists. Nothing suggests the City Council deviated from its standard protocol when it received and enacted the ordinance that abolished the plaintiff's job. Nothing suggests that the vote took place in an atmosphere permeated by widespread constituent pressure. Putting speculation and surmise to one side, it simply cannot be inferred that more than two of the council members who voted to abolish the plaintiff's position did so to punish her for protected speech. We cannot rest municipal liability on so frail a foundation. Because no reasonable jury could find against the City on the proof presented, Fall River's motion for judgment as a matter of law should have been granted.
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
RESIDENT ADVISORY BOARD v. RIZZO

564 F.2d 126 (3d Cir. 1977)

GARTH, Circuit Judge.  Plaintiffs, various individuals eligible for low-income public housing in Philadelphia and organizations with a membership interested in such housing, seek relief in this civil rights action against the City of Philadelphia, the City’s housing authority (“PHA”), and its redevelopment authority (“RDA”), and the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”). The dispute centers upon a plot of land in South Philadelphia which was condemned and cleared as a site for low-income public housing in 1959, and which has remained vacant since then. The district court found that the four governmental defendants had committed violations of various constitutional and statutory duties. ... All defendants except HUD have appealed.

  
We affirm the district court’s finding that, in delaying and frustrating the construction of the project, the City of Philadelphia acted with discriminatory intent and thereby violated plaintiffs’ constitutional and statutory rights. We also affirm the finding that PHA and RDA have violated Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 in failing to carry out the construction of the project.... 

I.  A.  Facts.  The focal point of this dispute is the Whitman Urban Renewal Area (“Whitman”)  in South Philadelphia. Within the Whitman Urban Renewal Area is the site of the project (henceforth “Whitman project”) which is at issue here. Like other neighborhoods in urban America, Whitman has undergone a transformation in its racial composition over the past several decades. Unlike most, however, Whitman has changed from an originally racially mixed area to one which is virtually all-white. Moreover, this change has resulted almost wholly from the urban renewal efforts of the defendant governmental agencies.

As revealed by the district court’s analysis, Whitman’s present all-white population must be viewed against a backdrop of, on the one hand, a growing concentration of blacks and other minorities in discrete, insular sections of Philadelphia (North Philadelphia, West Philadelphia and South Central Philadelphia), and on the other, a reduction in the number of blacks residing in other parts of the city, including Whitman. The net result has been, in the words of the district court, that “[t]he City of Philadelphia is today a racially segregated city.” 

  
This litigation involves not the city as a whole, however, but only the Whitman Urban Renewal Area for which the public housing at issue was planned. That area is a residential area consisting of block upon block of two-story row houses. Prior to the postwar concentration of blacks in the three sections of Philadelphia previously mentioned ..., a substantial number of black residents could be found in Whitman’s row houses. ... As late as 1950, ... 52 [black] families lived in a five-square-block area that would be leveled during 1959-60 in the initial phase of urban renewal in Whitman. As found by the district court, these 52 households constituted “46% of the families living (in this five-block area), which made this area an integrated section of Philadelphia.” 

  
Though integrated, Whitman was also somewhat dilapidated although subsequent developments were to show that the existing housing stock ... could be salvaged through renovation. In the mid-1950’s, however, renewal meant something other than renovation or restoration: renewal meant the razing of existing structures and the construction of “public housing” high-rise buildings. Thus when urban renewal came to Whitman in 1959-60, the integrated, five-block site mentioned above was cleared of its residents, and its structures were leveled. The cleared site has remained virtually untouched, and without building construction, since that time.

  
Such, of course, was not the plan. The Philadelphia Housing Authority (“PHA”) acquired the site through condemnation during 1959 and 1960, with the intention of constructing low-income public housing. ... On June 26, 1960, demolition contracts were awarded, and shortly thereafter the site was cleared.  The 1960 census tract reflects the impact of PHA’s renewal efforts. With site clearance underway, only four black families were to be found within the five-block project site. ... By 1970, however, not one black family was to be found in the entire southeast corner of Whitman.  Indeed, the 1970 census revealed that only 100 blacks remained in the Whitman Urban Renewal Area as a whole (down from 200 in 1960 and from 400 in 1950), and these families were concentrated in the northwest section of Whitman.

PHA’s original plan for the Whitman site called for the development of ... four high-rise apartment buildings. Because this plan, if implemented, would have required additional annexation of two small parcels of land, PHA held a public hearing on January 12, 1961. Local opposition to high-rise, low-income housing on the Whitman site surfaced at this hearing, and, although the additional annexation was approved, community opposition to the construction of high-rise public housing on the Whitman site intensified. The high-rise opponents formed the Whitman Area Improvement Council [WAIC] to continue their fight. Subsequently, Congress enacted the Housing Act of 1964, ... which produced a change in the design of the Whitman project from high-rise towers to one- and two-family home construction.  Thus, five years after condemnation and clearance of the Whitman project site by PHA, planning for the site had to begin anew.

The shift away from high-rise construction brought a new city agency into the planning process for the Whitman site:  the Redevelopment Authority of Philadelphia (“RDA”). RDA had earlier become involved in Whitman when, on October 27, 1963, it sought federal approval for the Whitman Urban Renewal Area. RDA’s original plan involved razing an additional 103 homes in Whitman and rehabilitating 2500 more. This Whitman Urban Renewal plan did not itself affect the Whitman project site. Although the site was located within the Urban Renewal Area, it was designated as land to be used solely for public housing; indeed, the project site was the only area in Whitman which was designated for that purpose.  RDA’s plan did not involve public housing per se, but rather involved assuring a substantial number of comfortable, attractive single-family residences in Whitman through the replacement or renovation of existing row-houses. ... RDA condemned several blocks adjacent to the project site. Through the efforts of private developers, new townhouses were built on these sites [between 1969 and 1973]. All of these houses were sold to and are occupied by white families.

It will be recalled that the clearance of the Whitman project site during 1959-60 had reduced the total number of black households in southeastern  Whitman. Some of these families had relocated in areas adjacent to the cleared project site. RDA’s condemnation of several of these blocks for construction during 1969-73 had the effect of again dislocating these families. The 1970 census revealed that the combined effect of PHA’s and RDA’s failure to provide any low-income housing on the vacant Whitman project site, and RDA’s condemnation of several blocks adjacent to the project site resulted in an all-white area in southeastern Whitman.6 In sum, to repeat the conclusion of the district court, “(t)he effect of these urban clearance actions by both RDA and PHA appears to have converted an integrated area of Philadelphia into a non-integrated area.” 

Although the Whitman project site lay vacant throughout this period (1960-70), planning for the site continued. ... [A] new plan for the site, involving both PHA and RDA, was developed. PHA sold the Whitman site to RDA ... to convey the site to a private developer, which would construct low-rise public housing upon it.  The need for a new plan that would be acceptable to WAIC led to the endorsement of the concept of a “turnkey” developer. As described by the district court:

A turnkey developer differed from a conventional housing developer in that the turnkey developer would purchase the land, hire the architect to design the project, produce the drawing, set a cost for his project and then submit his proposal to the Housing Authority. The Housing Authority, if it decided to accept a turnkey developer’s proposal, would, after appropriate public hearings and approvals, sign a contract with the turnkey developer and HUD, which specified that the turnkey developer would build the project and upon completion turn it over to the Housing Authority for the agreed upon purchase price. The Housing Authority would manage the project and HUD would provide the necessary subsidies. 

HUD’s involvement necessitated review by the agency’s Equal Opportunity staff. As the Whitman project site could now be described as an integrated project planned for an all-white area, HUD approved the site for low-income, turnkey housing on June 4, 1968.7 


... PHA chose Multicon Construction Corp. and Multicon Properties, Inc. (“Multicon”) to build the Whitman project.  ...  Multicon’s design called for the building of 120 townhouses on the Whitman site. Unlike most public housing to that point in time, each unit was to be a discrete structure on its own plot of land much closer in conception to the detached, single-family home characteristic of suburban developments than to the typical multi-family structures characteristic of low-income public housing. Indeed, one reason why Multicon’s plan was selected was its compatibility with the surrounding neighborhood: the plan “maintained existing street patterns and the housing was of the same design as the other houses in the Whitman area.”  This design also met the requirements for a newly promulgated federal program, “Turnkey III”, under which the tenants of a project could eventually own their homes by paying rent, assuming maintenance responsibilities and residing in the project for a designated time. 

  
Approval of an urban renewal project necessitated consultation with local community representatives. WAIC was designated the “local citizen participation unit” for the Whitman Urban Renewal Area.  The district court described a process of extended consultation with and participation by WAIC during the course of the approval process. WAIC’s suggestions produced modifications in Multicon’s plan, and the result, by June 2, 1970, was a meeting at which the Turnkey III proposal was fully explained. The minutes of the June 2d meeting reported a consensus: “It was agreed the proposed plans look excellent.” WAIC’s endorsement of the planned townhouses is revealed in a letter dated June 9, 1970, from the then-President of WAIC to Multicon, the developer:  “We were very impressed with the plans and feel that the design of these houses will make them an asset to our community.”  

  
A ground-breaking ceremony for the Whitman Park Townhouse Project was held on December 16, 1970. Between the ground-breaking and the scheduled start of construction in late March 1971, however, WAIC’s attitude toward the Townhouse Project shifted and hardened. By January 28, 1971, the President of WAIC was expressing doubts about the project; by March 22, 1971, WAIC had elected a new President and had decided to oppose the project specifically, “to demonstrate the next morning” when construction was finally to begin. The stipulated facts revealed the following sequence of events when Multicon sought to commence construction of its townhouses on March 23rd:

Beginning on or about 7:30 A.M. on March 23, 1971 approximately thirty women, some of whom were WAIC members, entered on the site of the Whitman Park Townhouse Project and gathered around the bulldozer and backhoe, blocking the operations of the contractor, refusing to leave the property when so requested and preventing the operations of these pieces of equipment. Fred Druding, the new WAIC President, was also present in the morning. . . .

On or about 9:05 A.M. on March 23, 1971 demonstrators, including WAIC members, blocked a truck on Shunk Street from the Atlas Lumber and Millwork Company, which was attempting to make a delivery to MPI at the Whitman Park Townhouse Project, and as a result the truck driver was unable to enter the property to make the delivery. 

On or about eight o’clock on March 25, 1971 (former WAIC President) Mrs. Alice Moore and other demonstrators, including members of WAIC, gathered around the bulldozer of Louis Dolente and Sons, parked on the northeast corner of Hancock and Shunk Streets, thereby preventing its operation.


Unable to begin work, Multicon ... obtained a preliminary injunction, [but] its attempts to return to work were to no avail, as demonstrators continued to block deliveries from Multicon’s contractors and to bar all access to the project site. Multicon’s request to the Philadelphia police to enforce the state court injunction was rebuffed.10 Eventually, on April 30, 1971, the Pennsylvania state court judge decided to bar Multicon from attempting to return to work while the parties negotiated a settlement. 

  
The district court summarized the ensuing negotiations between the parties as follows:

Shortly thereafter, there were a series of meetings between WAIC, PHA and Multicon. Various changes in the Whitman Park Townhouse Project were proposed to WAIC in order to settle the controversy, including ... reserving 50% of the units for persons who were displaced by the clearance for the Whitman project, raising the income levels of those persons who would be eligible for the project and setting up a screening committee, which would include Whitman residents, to assure that those living in the project would be an asset to the community. On May 17, 1971, ... WAIC voted down the final settlement offer of PHA. 

On May 18, 1971, Mayor Rizzo was nominated as the Democratic candidate for Mayor. On May 20, 1971, a meeting was held in Judge Hirsch’s chambers to consider a request by Multicon that the court’s order of April 30, 1971 be lifted and that Multicon be permitted to return to work on the Whitman Park Townhouse Project. At the May 20th meeting, Managing Director Corleto stated that the City would not provide police assistance for Multicon should it return to work. Mr. Gordon Cavanaugh, Chairman of PHA, stated to those present at the meeting that he had been instructed by Mayor Tate to order Multicon not to resume work. Judge Hirsch then signed an order permitting Multicon to return to work. However, faced with a threatened lack of police assistance, Multicon decided that it would not then return to work.  ...

At this juncture, on June 25, 1971, plaintiffs filed the complaint in the instant action .... 

  
1971 was an election year in Philadelphia. During the mayoral campaign, the present Mayor, Frank Rizzo, “publicly took the position that within the framework of the law, he would support local communities in their opposition to public housing projects proposed for their neighborhoods.12  While campaigning, Mayor Rizzo strongly supported WAIC’s resistance to the Whitman project.

  
Once elected, the opposition of Mayor Rizzo and his City Administration to the Whitman project did not abate.14  Indeed, Mayor Rizzo told James Greenlee, the chairman of PHA, that he meant to honor his campaign promise to Whitman residents that the Townhouse project would not be built.  The Mayor urged Greenlee to investigate the possibility of canceling the project. Mayor Rizzo was informed that cancellation of the Townhouse project would jeopardize federal funding for the entire city, especially in light of the project’s HUD-necessitated pairing with the already constructed Morton Addition Project in a racially impacted area of Philadelphia. See note 7 supra. In view of these possible consequences, Greenlee suggested that an attempt at compromise should be made. Mayor Rizzo rejected any compromise where “people in the area felt that Black people would be moving into the area if public housing were built.” 

Faced with Mayor Rizzo’s unequivocal disavowal of PHA’s obligation to build the Whitman Townhouse project, Greenlee described to Rizzo the procedure for cancellation of public housing projects set out in the so-called “Phillips Amendment.” In addition to requiring that the City repay any federal monies advanced and settle all claims by the builder, the Phillips Amendment would require a public hearing before the Philadelphia City Council. Mayor Rizzo indicated that the City’s termination costs would be no obstacle; however, the public hearing requirement was anathema to him because the procedure “would bring Black people to City Hall to protest the proposed cancellation.” The City’s subsequent opposition to the Whitman project took many forms. These were detailed in part by the district court when it described some of the difficulties encountered by Multicon.  In addition, Multicon, the project developer, was told by Deputy Mayor Philip Carroll “that the City did not want the Whitman project built.” 

Meanwhile, ... Multicon ... found itself between a rock and a hard place. On the one hand, it was bound by its contract with PHA to complete construction by April 29, 1972, and was therefore potentially liable for breach of contract if it failed to complete the project. On the other hand, the combined opposition of WAIC and the City prevented construction from going forward. Choosing the alternative of once again attempting to resume construction, Multicon gave notice to the City that such construction would begin on June 26, 1972. ... State-court litigation ensued.  The ... litigation did not result in a resumption of construction.... As of the present time, the site is vacant, with no construction apparently contemplated. ...

  B.  Procedural History. ... Because of the parties’ hope that ongoing state court litigation would produce a settlement resolving their dispute, and because of the complexity of pretrial discovery once that hope was proved futile, trial ... did not begin until October 7, 1975. The case was tried without a jury over a span of 57 days. ... At the conclusion of the trial, the district court determined that plaintiffs were entitled to equitable relief .... Defendants PHA, RDA, WAIC and the City have appealed. Still, HUD holds an appropriation of $3.68 million for the construction of the Whitman Townhouse project as planned.  

III.  B.  The City.  ... We conclude, as did the district court, that the City violated §1981 and §1982 by depriving plaintiffs of constitutional rights guaranteed by the Thirteenth and Fourteenth Amendments.  Current Supreme Court decisions mandate that to establish that a governmental defendant has abridged constitutional guaranties, something more than a disproportionate discriminatory impact must be proved. This “impact-plus” test is satisfied only if, in addition to disproportionate impact, a discriminatory purpose is shown. Washington v. Davis, 426 U.S. 229, 239-45 (1976); see also Dayton Board of Education v. Brinkman, 97 S.Ct. 2766 (1977) (test is “whether there was any action (by government defendants) which was intended to, and did in fact, discriminate”); Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp., 429 U.S. at 265 (“Proof of racially discriminatory intent or purpose is required to show a violation of the Equal Protection Clause”).

Where civil rights plaintiffs claim that discrimination in housing has worked a deprivation of equal protection, the starting point for analysis is the Supreme Court’s recent decision in Arlington Heights. In that case, the Village of Arlington Heights was requested to rezone a tract of land to permit construction of racially integrated low and moderate income housing. At public hearings, the Village’s Plan Commission heard opponents denounce the proposed change for a variety of reasons [including] the undesirability of introducing racially integrated housing to Arlington Heights (which at that time had a population that was 99.9% white).... The Plan Commission, and the Village, denied the requested zoning change. A subsequent civil rights action ... resulted in judgment for the Village in the district court. The Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit reversed, 517 F.2d 409 (7th Cir. 1975), although the court left undisturbed the district court’s finding that Arlington Heights’ denial of the requested change was not racially motivated. The Court of Appeals’ holding rested upon the assumption that a showing of a racially disproportionate impact would suffice to invalidate governmental action, absent demonstration of a compelling interest.

The Supreme Court’s opinion in Washington v. Davis, negated this assumption. On certiorari in Arlington Heights, the Supreme Court reversed the Seventh Circuit’s decision, citing the absence of proof of racially discriminatory intent. The Court, in discussing the application of the Washington v. Davis standard in a “housing” case, said:

Davis does not require a plaintiff to prove that the challenged action rested solely on racially discriminatory purposes. Rarely can it be said that a legislature or administrative body operating under a broad mandate made a decision motivated solely by a single concern, or even that a particular purpose was the “dominant” or “primary” one. In fact, it is because legislators and administrators are properly concerned with balancing numerous competing considerations that courts refrain from reviewing the merits of their decisions, absent a showing of arbitrariness or irrationality. But racial discrimination is not just another competing consideration. When there is a proof that a discriminatory purpose has been a motivating factor in the decision, this judicial deference is no longer justified.

Determining whether invidious discriminatory purpose was a motivating factor demands a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available. The impact of the official action whether it “bears more heavily on one race than another,” Washington v. Davis, 426 U.S., at 242, may provide an important starting point. Sometimes a clear pattern, unexplainable on grounds other than race, emerges from the effect of the state action even when the governing legislation appears neutral on its face. Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356 (1886); Gomillion v. Lightfoot, 364 U.S. 339 (1960). The evidentiary inquiry is then relatively easy. But such cases are rare. Absent a pattern as stark as that in Gomillion or Yick Wo, impact alone is not determinative, and the Court must look to other evidence.

 The historical background of the decision is one evidentiary source, particularly if it reveals a series of official actions taken for invidious purposes. ... The specific sequence of events leading up to the challenged decision also may shed some light on the decisionmaker’s purposes. ... For example, if the property involved here always had been zoned R-5 but suddenly was changed to R-3 when the town learned of MHDC’s plans to erect integrated housing, we would have a far different case. Departures from the normal procedural sequence also might afford evidence that improper purposes are playing a role. Substantive departures too may be relevant, particularly if the factors usually considered important by the decisionmaker strongly favor a decision contrary to the one reached.
429 U.S. at 265. ...

 [I]n the instant case, the district court [acting prior to Arlington Heights]  held that the City had acted with racially discriminatory intent, as evidenced by: (1) the City’s joining in opposition to the Whitman Townhouse project with knowledge that some of that opposition was racially motivated; (2) Mayor Rizzo’s explicit statements equating “public housing” with “Black housing” and his public stand “against placing such housing in White neighborhoods”; and (3) the City’s taking steps to terminate the project with knowledge that the action would produce a racially discriminatory effect. 

As for the actual consequences of the failure to construct the Whitman Townhouse project, the district court found the following effects of termination:

The cancellation of the Whitman Park Townhouse Project had a racially disproportionate effect, adverse to Blacks and other minorities in Philadelphia. The waiting list for low-income public housing in Philadelphia is composed primarily of racial minorities. Of the 14,000 to 15,000 people on the waiting list for public housing in Philadelphia, 85% are Black, and 95% are considered to be of racial minority background. Obviously those in housing projects, which are overwhelmingly Black, and those on the public housing waiting list, are those least able to move out of the poorer, racially impacted areas of Philadelphia. The evidence also established that Blacks in Philadelphia who are concentrated in the three major Black areas of Philadelphia, have the lowest median income in comparison with the total population of Philadelphia and live in the poorest housing in Philadelphia. The Whitman Park Townhouse Project was a unique opportunity for these Blacks living in racially impacted areas of Philadelphia to live in an integrated, non-racially impacted neighborhood in furtherance of the national policy enunciated in Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968. Public housing offers the only opportunity for these people, the lowest income Black households, to live outside of Black residential areas of Philadelphia. Cancellation of the project erased that opportunity and contributed to the maintenance of segregated housing in Philadelphia.

This discriminatory effect and the invidious discriminatory purpose underlying the City’s role in the project’s termination together were found to establish a constitutional violation under Washington v. Davis.

Applying the Supreme Court’s Arlington Heights elaboration of the “impact-plus” test of Washington v. Davis, the district court’s conclusions are, if anything, reinforced. Under the applicable Arlington Heights criteria, “invidious discriminatory purpose” can be gleaned through an inquiry which weighs a number of factors:

   
(1)  discriminatory impact;

   
(2)  the historical background of the attacked decision;

  
(3)  the “sequence of events leading up to the challenged decisions”;

   
(4)  departures from “normal procedural sequences”; and

   
(5)  departures from normal substantive criteria.

Arlington Heights, 429 U.S. at 265.22 

Here, the discriminatory impact of the City’s obstruction of the project could hardly be clearer. As the district court’s findings reveal, the Whitman Townhouse project, when built and tenanted, would restore a measure of racial integration to a now-all-white portion of Whitman, thus providing an opportunity for at least some of those currently on the PHA’s public housing waiting list 95% of whom are nonwhite to live in an integrated, non-racially impacted environment. The City’s opposition to the construction of the project had the undeniable effect of “bear[ing] more heavily on one race than another,” Arlington Heights, 429 U.S. at 266, quoting Washington v. Davis, 426 U.S. at 242.  But discriminatory effect, standing alone, will only infrequently suffice to establish an equal protection violation.23  When further inquiry into purpose is necessary as is the case here the remaining factors noted by the Arlington Heights Court come into play.

  
The second “evidentiary source” to be considered is the historical background of the allegedly discriminatory decision. Here, the historical backdrop to the City’s obstruction of the Whitman project, i.e., the events occurring prior to the current City Administration’s assumption of power in 1972, is easily summarized. The City’s housing authority, PHA, ... proposed the original high-rise project in Whitman and cleared the site for construction. The City’s role appeared to be a purely passive one at that point. When the current low-rise design was adopted, the City Council and then-Mayor Tate enacted an ordinance approving Multicon as the developer. These acts were taken before WAIC reversed its earlier endorsement of the project and began its campaign of active opposition.

It was at that point that the City’s passive role ended. The City’s frustration of Multicon’s efforts to enclose the construction site a security measure which, if effected, undoubtedly would have permitted construction to proceed gives evidence of the City’s joining in community opposition. The repeated refusals by the Philadelphia police to protect Multicon’s construction activities buttress this conclusion, as does then-Mayor Tate’s decision to order Multicon to halt construction. While this background provides no direct evidence of discriminatory purpose on the City’s part, the circumstances of a sudden shift in the City’s position from passive acceptance to active opposition, in the face of protests by demonstrators manifesting racial bias, provides some indication of an improper motive or purpose.

  
The third factor specified in Arlington Heights is the specific sequence of events leading to the challenged decision: here, the record of the Rizzo administration’s opposition to the Whitman project. During his election campaign, Mayor Rizzo repeatedly voiced objections to the Whitman project, indicating that he would preserve the City’s neighborhoods at any expense, and that he would support any community seeking to prevent construction of a housing project.  In the course of exploring the possible means of preventing the project’s construction, Mayor Rizzo equated public housing with “Black housing” (because most public housing tenants are black), and stated that public housing should not be placed in white neighborhoods. Similarly, when Mayor Rizzo was told of the Phillips Amendment’s fairly rigorous requirements for canceling a public housing project, he indicated that while the expense of cancellation would not be a barrier, the requirement that a public hearing be held made the procedure unpalatable because such a hearing would bring blacks to City Hall. 

The district court’s opinion also records numerous instances of departures from normal procedural sequences (the fourth Arlington Heights factor). The dispute over Multicon’s proposed fence provides but one example. City officials gave contradictory instructions, waiving permit and licensing requirements at one moment and insisting on strict compliance the next. Multicon was required to satisfy regulations involving street access and sidewalk maintenance not enforced elsewhere. The most striking example of procedural irregularity, however, is the City’s involvement in the attempted termination of the project. It was made clear to City officials that the Phillips Amendment set forth the normal procedure for terminating a project. However, because that procedure necessitated a public airing of the City’s reasons for cancellation, the Phillips Amendment was bypassed. Instead, the City insisted that Multicon, the developer, was in default, and that default by Multicon required termination of the project. The procedure adopted would seem to be especially significant where the “normal” procedure not employed would have required the City to reveal its reasons for making its decision at public hearings.

A glaring “substantive” departure from normal decision-making (the fifth Arlington Heights factor) was the City’s decision to abandon a housing project which, pursuant to agreement with HUD, had been “matched” with another, already-built project. Normally, we would suspect that breaching an agreement with HUD, with the attendant risk of termination of all HUD aid, would be an unacceptable price for a City administration to pay for the cancellation of a housing project. Such was not the case here: apparently, the price, if not right, was affordable, and no regard was given to the fact that the “matched” project (the Morton Addition, see note 7 supra) had already been built.  Where, as here, the applicable Arlington Heights “evidentiary sources” for a gleaning of official intent all point to unusual, aberrant circumstances surrounding the City’s action, which reveal direct and circumstantial proof of racial bias, we will not disturb the district court’s finding that the City of Philadelphia was racially motivated in its opposition to the Whitman project.

Indeed, the Arlington Heights Court all but anticipated this very case when it observed that a change in zoning laws preventing construction in the face of the announcement of a plan to erect integrated housing would present “a far different case” than Arlington Heights. The record here reveals this to be, by analogy, that “far different” case. The City of Philadelphia changed its stance from passive support for the Whitman project to active opposition only after the initiation of bias-tinged local demonstrations. In terminating the Whitman project, the City violated the plaintiffs’ right to equal protection. See also Cooper v. Aaron, 358 U.S. 1, 8 (1958) (school board previously going forward with preparation of desegregation plans held to have denied equal protection when in face of community and state governmental protests, it abandoned plans).  [The court went on to find (on a disparate impact theory) that PHA and RDA had violated Title VIII by failing to carry out construction of the project.]

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

10.  Whose state of mind does Rizzo find relevant to determining the City’s “purpose?”  
11.  Rizzo notes that the Supreme Court does not require the plaintiff to prove that racial animus is the city’s sole motive.  What standard does the Court employ to determine whether racial animus played a sufficient part in the decision?  Try to elaborate in your own words what this standard means in the context of a decision by a city.  Do you think it is a sensible standard?  How might this standard apply to the problem raised in Discussion Question 9?
12.  Rizzo lays out the evidentiary factors relevant to proof of discriminatory purpose that were elaborated by the Supreme Court in Arlington Heights. Try to identify the logic behind the inclusion of each factor on the list.  In other words, why does the Court believe that the factor is a helpful indication of discriminatory purpose?  What evidence of each factor is there in Rizzo?  If you were representing the City at trial, what legitimate purposes might you have tried to prove?
13.  Congess added “familial status” to the list of characteristics protected by the FHA in 1988.  As preparation for Discussion Problem A, look at the definition of “familial status” in 42 U.S.C. §3602(k) (SS3).  What exactly is being protected?  What kinds of discrimination might Congress have had in mind when it added this characteristic? 
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
Discussion Problem A

Abrams County is directly north of New London, Connecticut.  The northern two-thirds of the county contains residential neighborhoods and businesses targeting suburban consumers.  When New London was thriving in the 1940s, small factories and transportation and storage facilities covered most of the southern third of the county. With relatively few residences in the southern third, Abrams County put only a couple of elementary schools there and bused the children north for junior and senior high school.  


As New London declined economically, many businesses in the southern third of Abrams County failed or relocated, leaving behind abandoned warehouses and factories.  In 2001, the Abrams County Development Council (ACDC) authorized a redevelopment plan (2001 Plan) to try to address the blighted areas in the southern third.  

The 2001 Plan designated a large area as an Opportunity Zone (OZ) and offered incentives for developers to build there.  The Plan rezoned the OZ to allow multi-unit residential housing but, because of the lack of schools, units in the new complexes could have no more than two bedrooms.  To make them attractive to professionals from New London, it also required that the units be relatively large with extensive amenities. The 2001 Plan stated that, as more schools were built, the ACDC would consider further rezoning to allow multi-unit complexes targeted at moderate income families.  Unfortunately, as of 2006, only a few apartment complexes were built in the OZ and the county had built no new schools.

Scott, a developer, did extensive research into the possibility of building apartments in the OZ.  He discovered that the New London area had more than enough housing appropriate for urban professionals.  However, there was a significant need for moderate-income housing for clerical,  government, and service industry workers and their families.  He then purchased a very large plot of land in the OZ.

Scott and his staff designed a two-story apartment building that consisted of 24 two- and three bedroom apartments arranged around a central courtyard where children could play safely.  He filed the appropriate documents with the ACDC to request rezoning to allow him to build twelve of these buildings on his property in the OZ, along with a strip mall containing a grocery store, a drug store, and other retail outlets.  

In his documentation, Scott provided evidence that he had done appropriate investigation to conclude there were no hazardous wastes on the properties he purchased.  He also showed that he had received approval from the state to receive grant money to pay for some of the infrastructure (e.g., fire hydrants, stop signs, traffic lights) required by the new development. 

He also laid out extensive local market research showing that between 70% and 80% of the units in his buildings were likely to be occupied by families with children as compared with 20% of the units in the buildings with larger units that had already been completed under the 2001 Plan.  He also provided a national study that showed that families with children were significantly more likely to rent apartments in his intended price range than in the price range contemplated by the 2001 plan.  The study concluded that families with children who had higher incomes purchased houses instead of renting more expensive apartments.

ACDC includes seven councilmen, each elected from a separate geographical district.  Two of the districts, represented by Betsy and Chris, include part of the southern third of the county.  The other five districts, including those represented by David and Esther, are entirely residential areas in the northern part of the county.  Pursuant to its usual procedures, ACDC solicited feedback from the public, then held a closed hearing to discuss Scott’s rezoning proposal, at which County officials and lawyers said there were no legal hurdles to approving the proposal and that the County had money in the budget to cover the necessary expenditures.

Betsy and Chris strongly urged the project be approved to boost the economy in their districts, reminding the others that ACDC typically followed the lead of the councilmen for the district where a project was located. They pointed out that Scott was very successful with prior development efforts.  They acknowledged that the county would have to spend some money for related infrastructure, but pointed out that the state grant would cover about half of what was needed.

Chris noted that school district officials had indicated they could handle the planned influx of children, but David and Esther expressed concern that teachers at the schools involved would have their hands full with larger classes that included many students new to the area.

Esther worried that the neighborhood was not appropriate for children in general.  She worried about leftover hazardous waste:  “I know he has checked everything out, but how can they really be sure?”  She worried that there was no mass transit near by.  She worried that, “It’s such an ugly place to bring up children. Who would want to grow up there?” She also worried that the parents wouldn’t have enough places to shop.

David said, “Look, we all know what’s really going on here. He’s going to fill the place up with those Eastern European immigrants with names like eye charts who are all over New London these days.  People in my district won’t stand for having their schools filling up with children of Russians and Transylvanians and whoever that grew up in Communist countries and don’t know how to behave in America.”  Esther acknowledged that some of her constituents said things like that, but said “It’s garbage.” 

ACDC voted 4-3 to reject Scott’s proposal.  David and Esther voted with the majority; Betsy and Chris were on the losing side.  After further discussion, ACDC issued a written statement saying rezoning was denied because there were too many concerns about adding such a large number of new residents into an area that still was primarily industrial.
Based on these facts, Scott brought an action against Abrams County in U.S. District Court, alleging that, by rejecting his proposed housing development, the county had violated §3604(a) by intentionally discriminating on the basis of familial status and on the basis of national origin (Eastern Europeans).  Be prepared to discuss the evidence relevant to each claim and how likely each is to succeed. 

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
B.  The McDonnell-Douglas Burden Shift

OVERVIEW OF THE BURDEN SHIFT

THE STRUCTURE OF THE BURDEN SHIFT


In McDonnell Douglas v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), and Texas Dept. of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981), the Supreme Court elaborated the burdens of production and proof in a lawsuit by a private individual claiming that an employer had violated Title VII, the federal statute prohibiting discrimination in employment.  Federal courts interpreting the federal Fair Housing Act have adopted the structure of the McDonnell Douglas burden shift, which is laid out below.  

The Plaintiff’s Prima Facie Case:  In a case in which the plaintiff claims s/he was not hired because of race discrimination, under McDonnell Douglas, the plaintiff bears the initial burden of demonstrating a version of the following prima facie case:

(1) that s/he belongs to a racial minority;

(2) that s/he applied and was qualified for a job for which the employer was seeking applicants;

(3) that s/he was rejected

(4) that after the rejection, the position remained open and the employer continued to seek applicants from persons with similar qualifications.

See McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802.  The Court made clear that the precise nature of the prima facie case would vary with the particular claim being made.  See id.n.13. For example, in Burdine, the Court held that the plaintiff met the first and fourth prongs of the prima facie case by showing that she was a woman who applied for a job that was eventually given to a man.  See 450 U.S. at 253 n.6.  The prima facie case creates a rebuttable presumption that discrimination has occurred.  Id. at 254.

The Defendant’s Burden of Production: Once the plaintiff has provided evidence sufficient to state the prima facie case, the burden shifts “to the employer to articulate some legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for the employee’s rejection.” McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802.  The defendant’s explanation “must be clear and reasonably specific.”  Burdine, 450 U.S. at 258.  However, Burdine makes clear that this is merely a burden to produce some evidence, not a burden of proof:

The defendant need not persuade the court that it was actually motivated by the proffered reasons. … It is sufficient if the defendant’s evidence raises a genuine issue of fact as to whether it discriminated against the plaintiff.   To accomplish this, the defendant must clearly set forth, through the introduction of admissible evidence, the reasons for the plaintiff’s rejection.

Id. at 254-55. 

Although this burden is quite easy to meet,  “the defendant nevertheless retains an incentive to try to persuade the trier of fact that the … decision was lawful [so it] normally will try to prove the factual basis for its explanation.”  Id. at 258

The Plaintiff’s Ultimate Burden:  After the defendant meets its burden by articulating a legitimate reason for its actions, the plaintiff has an opportunity to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the articulated reason was merely a pretext for forbidden discrimination. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804; Burdine, 450 U.S. at 215.  The burden to show pretext 

merges with the ultimate burden of persuading the court that she has been the victim of intentional discrimination. She may succeed in this either directly by persuading a court that a discriminatory reason more likely motivated the employer or indirectly by showing that the employer’s proffered explanation is unworthy of credence. 

Burdine, 450 U.S. at 256.   


While the trier of fact considers plaintiff’s evidence of pretext, it may continue to consider the evidence that made up the prima facie case.  The defendant’s articulation of a legitimate reason eliminates the presumption in favor of a finding of discrimination, but does not undercut the probative value of the evidence that constituted the plaintiff’s initial showing.  See id. at 255 n.10.


If the trier of fact finds that the defendant’s articulated reason is false, does the plaintiff automatically win?  The Supreme Court said “no” in St. Mary’s Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (1993).  The Court held that because the plaintiff retains the ultimate burden of proving that the defendant engaged in forbidden discrimination, simply disproving the asserted rationale does not provide a victory as a matter of law.  The fact-finder still must be convinced that discrimination was the true reason for the defendant’s actions.  “It is not enough  … to disbelieve the employer; the factfinder must believe the plaintiff’s explanation of intentional discrimination.  Id. at 519.

However, in Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products, 120 S.Ct. 2097 (2000), the Court clarified that simply presenting the prima facie case plus evidence rebutting the defendant’s articulated reason can be sufficient to satisfy the plaintiff’s ultimate burden.   No additional submission of evidence is necessary.  Id. at 2109.  The Court noted, however, that such a showing would not always be sufficient.  For example, judgment as a matter of law for the defendant would be appropriate 

if the record conclusively revealed some other, nondiscriminatory reason for the employer’s decision or if the plaintiff created only a weak issue of fact as to whether the employer’s reason was untrue and there was abundant and uncontroverted evidence that no discrimination had occurred.  

Id. at 2108.  Together, Hicks and Reeves suggest that, when a plaintiff’s only evidence beside the prima facie case goes to showing the falsity of the defendant’s proffered reason, the finder of fact will usually be allowed to decide whether there is liability.

JUSTIFICATIONS FOR THE BURDEN SHIFT

The prima facie case serves to “eliminate[ ] the most common non-discriminatory reasons for the plaintiff’s rejection.”  Burdine, 450 U.S. at 254.  For example, if the plaintiff cannot provide evidence that s/he was qualified for the job in question, s/he cannot proceed.  Similarly, if the employer decided it no longer wanted to hire anyone for the job, the plaintiff should be unable to provide evidence to meet the fourth prong.  Once the prima facie case has eliminated these reasons, the employer’s acts, “if otherwise unexplained, are more likely than not based on the consideration of impermissible factors.”  Id. (quoting Furnco Construction Corp., 438 US 567, 577 (1978)).  Thus, the creation of a rebuttable presumption of discrimination is appropriate.  Id.

The defendant’s burden of production serves to narrow the focus of the case “so that the plaintiff will have a full and fair opportunity to demonstrate pretext.”  Id. at 255-56.  It prevents the plaintiff from having to anticipate and disprove every possible legitimate reason for the defendant’s acts.  It also takes into account that the defendant will usually have much better access to information about the challenged decision.  Once the plaintiff knows the defendant’s claimed reason, it can use the discovery process to explore relevant evidence that is in the defendant’s possession.  See id. at  258.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
ASBURY v. BROUGHAM
866 F.2d 1276 (10th Cir. 1989)

PARKER, District Judge:  Plaintiff Rosalyn Asbury brought suit under 42 U.S.C. §1982 and the Fair Housing Act, claiming that the defendants refused to rent or to allow her to inspect or negotiate for the rental of an apartment or townhouse at Brougham Estates in Kansas City. Defendants Leo Brougham, individually and doing business as Brougham Estates and Brougham Management Company, and Wanda Chauvin, his employee, appeal a jury verdict awarding Asbury compensatory damages of $7,500 against them... .  Leo Brougham appeals from the jury verdict awarding punitive damages in the amount of $50,000 solely against him.  Defendants contend that the jury verdict awarding compensatory damages is unsupported by the evidence because it failed to establish an intent to discriminate. Defendant Leo Brougham appeals the award of punitive damages on the additional ground that any discriminatory motivation that the jury may have found on the part of Wanda Chauvin could not be attributed to Brougham, on whose behalf she managed leasing of apartments and townhouses at Brougham Estates.  The defendants argue, therefore, that the district court erred by denying their motion for a new trial.

I. Sufficiency of Evidence Supporting a Finding of Racial Discrimination in Violation of §1982 and FHA.  42 U.S.C. §1982 and the FHA both prohibit discrimination on the basis of race. In order to prevail on a claim made under these statutes, plaintiff must prove a discriminatory intent.  A violation occurs when race is a factor in a decision to deny a minority applicant the opportunity to rent or negotiate for a rental, but race need not be the only factor in the decision.  In addition, §3604(d) of the FHA specifically prohibits dissemination of false information about the availability of housing because of a person’s race. Accordingly, failure to provide a minority applicant with the same information about availability of a rental unit or the terms and conditions for rental as is provided to white “testers,” results in false information being provided and is cognizable as an injury under the FHA. 

A.   Asbury’s Prima Facie Case under §1982 and FHA.  The three‑part burden of proof analysis established in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), a Title VII employment discrimination case, has been widely applied to FHA and §1982 claims.  E.g., Robinson v. 12 Lofts Realty, Inc., 610 F.2d 1032 (2d Cir.1979); Phiffer v. Proud Parrot Motor Hotel, 648 F.2d 548, 551 (9th Cir.1980); see also Denny v. Hutchinson Sales Corp., 649 F.2d 816, 822‑23 (10th Cir.1981) (§1982).  Under the McDonnell Douglas analysis, plaintiff first must come forward with proof of a prima facie case of discrimination. Second, if plaintiff proves a prima facie case, the burden shifts to defendants to produce evidence that the refusal to rent or negotiate for a rental was motivated by legitimate, non‑racial considerations.  Texas Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 254‑55 (1981).  Third, once defendants by evidence articulate non‑discriminatory reasons, the burden shifts back to plaintiff to show that the proffered reasons were pretextual.  Id. at 256.

 The proof necessary to establish a prima facie case under the FHA also establishes a prima facie case of racial discrimination under §1982.  Selden Apartments v. U.S. Dept. of Housing & Urban Development, 785 F.2d 152, 159 (6th Cir.1986);  Robinson.  In order to establish her prima facie case, plaintiff had to prove that:

(1) she is a member of a racial minority;

(2) she applied for and was qualified to rent an apartment or townhouse in Brougham Estates;

(3) she was denied the opportunity to rent or to inspect or negotiate for the rental of a townhouse or apartment;  and

(4) the housing opportunity remained available.  

Selden Apartments;  Robinson.

A review of the evidence in this case shows that plaintiff established her prima facie case. Defendants stipulated that Asbury is black.  Plaintiff testified that on February 23, 1984, she went to Brougham Estates with her daughter to obtain rental housing. At the rental office at Brougham Estates, Asbury encountered Wanda Chauvin, the manager,4 and explained to Chauvin that she was being transferred to Kansas City and needed to rent housing.  Asbury told Chauvin that she needed to secure housing by the middle of March or the beginning of April.  In response, Chauvin said there were no vacancies, but told Asbury she could call back at a later time to check on availability.  Chauvin provided no information concerning availability of rental units that would assist Asbury in her efforts to rent an apartment or townhouse at Brougham Estates. Asbury asked for the opportunity to fill out an application, but Chauvin did not give her an application, again stating that there were no vacancies and that she kept no waiting list. Asbury also requested floor plans or the opportunity to view a model unit, and Chauvin refused. Instead, Chauvin suggested Asbury inquire at the Westminister Apartments, an apartment complex housing mostly black families.  Although Chauvin did not ask Asbury about her qualifications, plaintiff was employed with the Federal Aviation Authority at a salary of $37,599. Based on her salary, defendants concede that Asbury would likely be qualified to rent an apartment or townhouse at Brougham Estates.  


Defendants argue that Asbury was not rejected because Chauvin courteously invited her to call back. However, there is ample evidence in the record to support the jury’s finding that defendants’ failure or refusal to provide Asbury the opportunity to rent or inspect or negotiate for the rental of a townhouse or apartment constituted a rejection because of her race cognizable under §1982 and the FHA.

Although there was a conflict in the evidence as to the availability of housing at the time Asbury attempted to inspect and negotiate for rental, there was abundant evidence from which the jury could find that housing was available.  Defendants testified that families with a child are housed exclusively in the townhouses at Brougham Estates, and that there were no townhouses available on the date Asbury inquired.  Asbury introduced evidence suggesting that both apartments and townhouses were available and, in addition, that exceptions previously had been created to allow children to reside in the apartments.

On February 24, 1984, the day after Asbury inquired about renting, Asbury’s sister‑in‑law, Linda Robinson, who is white, called to inquire about the availability of two‑bedroom apartments.   The woman who answered the telephone identified herself as “Wanda” and invited Robinson to come to Brougham Estates to  view the apartments. The following day, February 25, 1984, Robinson went to the rental office at Brougham Estates and met with Wanda Chauvin. Chauvin provided Robinson with floor plans of available one‑ and two‑bedroom apartments at Brougham Estates.  Robinson specifically asked Chauvin 
about rental to families with children, and Chauvin did not tell Robinson that children were restricted to the townhouse units. Robinson accompanied Chauvin to inspect a model unit and several available two‑bedroom apartments. Upon inquiry by Robinson, Chauvin indicated that the apartments were available immediately and offered to hold an apartment for her until the next week.

Asbury also provided evidence indicating that townhouses were available for rent.  On February 1, 1984, Daniel McMenay, a white male, notified Brougham Estates that he intended to vacate his townhouse.  On April 4, 1984, Brougham Estates rented the townhouse vacated by McMenay to John Shuminski, a white male. On March 10, 1984, Randall Hockett, a white male, also rented a townhouse at Brougham Estates.  In addition, Asbury provided computer data sheets generated by Brougham Estates which indicated that a third townhouse was unoccupied at the time of her inquiry on February 23, 1984 and remained vacant as of April 10, 1984.  There was also evidence that a building which included townhouse units had been closed for the winter but would be available for rent beginning in the spring.  On February 22, 1984, one day prior to Asbury’s inquiry into vacancies, James Vance, a white male, paid a deposit for a townhouse which he occupied when the building opened on April 10, 1984.  Since Asbury testified that she told Chauvin she did not need to occupy a rental unit until the beginning of April, the jury could have concluded that at least one of the townhouses which was subsequently rented to the white males was available at the time Asbury inquired.  Although defendants took the position at trial that the townhouses were closed or out of order for repair and therefore not available to rent, the jury was free to accept the evidence of availability presented by the plaintiff.

Since Asbury met her burden of proving a prima facie case of racial discrimination, the burden shifted to defendants to prove a legitimate, non‑ discriminatory reason for denial of housing.  McDonnell Douglas Corp.; Burdine.

B.   Failure of Proof of Legitimate, Non‑discriminatory Reason for Rejection. Defendants claimed their legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for rejecting Asbury arose out of the policies at Brougham Estates that families with one child could rent townhouses but not apartments, and that families with more than one child were not permitted to move into Brougham Estates.  Defendants further argued that they made no exceptions to these rules. Defendants contended that in accordance with these rental policies, no appropriate housing was available for Asbury when she inquired.  However, plaintiff introduced evidence indicating that exceptions to these rules had been made on several occasions;  families with children had rented apartments, and families with more than one child had been permitted to move into Brougham Estates.  Asbury was not provided information about the terms and conditions that gave rise to an exception to the policy concerning children being restricted to the townhouses.  The jury could therefore find that defendants’ reasons for denying Asbury the opportunity to negotiate for rental were not legitimate and nondiscriminatory.

Defendants also argue that evidence of a high percentage of minority occupancy in Brougham Estates conclusively rebuts the claim of intentional racial discrimination.5 Although such statistical data is relevant to rebutting a claim of discrimination, statistical data is not dispositive of a claim of intentional discrimination.  Furnco Construction Co. v. Waters, 438 U.S. 567, 580 (1977).  Moreover, there was other evidence from which the jury could have determined that race was a motivating factor in defendants’ decision to refuse to negotiate with Asbury for a rental unit.

II.  Sufficiency of Evidence Supporting Punitive Damages Award.  Defendant Brougham contends that there was insufficient evidence supporting the jury’s award of punitive damages against him because he never met or dealt with the plaintiff, the actions of Chauvin should not be attributed to him, and he did not promulgate any discriminatory policies or procedures.

Punitive damages may be awarded against a defendant “when the defendant’s conduct is shown to be motivated by evil motive or intent, or when it involves reckless or callous indifference to the federally protected rights of others.”  Smith v. Wade, 461 U.S. 30, 56 (1983).  The jury has discretion to award punitive damages to punish outrageous conduct on the part of a defendant and to deter similar conduct in the future.  Id. at 54.

 Plaintiff advanced two theories supporting Brougham’s liability for punitive damages:  (1) Brougham’s own discriminatory conduct in establishing rental policies, procedures and rules;  and (2) his authorization or ratification of discriminatory conduct by Chauvin, his employee.  We find sufficient evidence to establish liability under either theory.

In this case, Asbury presented evidence that Leo Brougham was the managing partner of Brougham Estates and Brougham Management Company.  Brougham established all policies, rules and rental procedures for Brougham Estates.  Chauvin worked for Brougham who instructed her about the rental policies and procedures. Among the policies and procedures implemented by Brougham were the requirements that Chauvin routinely and untruthfully tell people over the phone that there were no vacancies, whether or not vacancies existed, but that Chauvin then encourage the individuals to come in, inspect the premises and discuss upcoming vacancies..  Brougham established the requirement of visual observation of a prospective tenant. Although a policy that prospective tenants must be visually scrutinized is not necessarily improper, under the circumstances of this case, the jury could have inferred that the policy operated to screen prospective tenants on the basis of race and that, at a minimum, Brougham was callously indifferent to this result of his policy.  Indeed, this policy had given rise to several administrative complaints by single black females prior to Asbury’s inquiry about a vacancy.  Brougham was aware of previous claims of discriminatory practices in the rental of units at Brougham Estates. 

Another policy established by Brougham was that a family with a child could occupy only a townhouse.  Chauvin was advised of this policy.  Brougham testified that he made no exceptions to the policy, and he testified specifically that no tenant or prospective tenant with a child could obtain permission to be excepted from the rule.  Plaintiff, however, produced evidence that exceptions had been created on occasion.   Those exceptions had been authorized by Brougham and had been made on an individual basis.   The rental policies, procedures and rules, including criteria for exceptions, were not kept in written form.  From the evidence presented, the jury could have determined that the policies established and implemented by defendant Brougham directly fostered the discrimination which Asbury experienced, that Brougham should have been aware that this might occur, and that Brougham was recklessly or callously indifferent to it happening.

Plaintiff also offered evidence tending to prove that Brougham ratified Chauvin’s actions.  In March, 1984, shortly after her encounter with Chauvin, Asbury filed a complaint with the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) claiming discrimination on the basis of race and sex.  Asbury requested a formal apology and that the discriminatory practices cease. Following notification by HUD that a complaint had been filed by Asbury, Brougham personally took steps to investigate the complaint.  He drove through the neighborhood where Asbury had found a rental and observed several children in front of Asbury’s home.  In an attempt to confirm his assumption that Asbury had more than one child, Brougham acquired the unlisted phone number of a neighbor of Asbury, Judith Hunter, and asked Hunter questions about Asbury’s living arrangements.  Hunter told Brougham that to her knowledge Asbury had only one child.  In addition, Brougham testified at trial that he had never gone to Asbury’s place of employment to seek information about her.  However, in rebuttal, one of Asbury’s co‑workers testified that Brougham had been at Asbury’s place of employment and that Brougham had asked questions about her.  After Brougham took these investigatory steps, he never apologized to Asbury, although it appears that he determined Asbury had only one child and therefore fit within the residential policies of Brougham Estates.  Based on the evidence presented, the jury was at liberty to decide that Brougham had not been a truthful witness.  Furthermore, the jury could have drawn the inference that Brougham’s failure to apologize or otherwise remedy the situation, after personally investigating Asbury’s claim of discrimination at Brougham Estates, was an acceptance and ratification of Chauvin’s treatment of Asbury.

A district court’s denial of a motion for new trial will be disturbed on appeal only upon a showing of abuse of discretion.  Having reviewed the record in this case, we find that there was substantial evidence supporting and a reasonable basis for the jury’s verdict awarding both compensatory and punitive damages, and we affirm the district court’s decision to deny defendants’ motion for a new trial. ...

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
14.  Asbury employs the McDonnell Douglas burden shift adapted from Title VII caselaw.  Try to explain in your own words how the burden shift works.  Why might the courts have developed this formula?  Are there problems with using it?  
15.  In Asbury, what was the evidence supporting the plaintiff?  Supporting the defendant?  Do you think there was sufficient evidence of discriminatory motive to go to the jury even without the burden shift?  Why isn’t the defendants’ evidence “of a high percentage of minority occupancy” sufficient to defeat plaintiffs’ claim?

16.  Asbury, like other courts that have addressed the issue, holds the owners of the units involved vicariously liable for the discriminatory acts of their agents.  What arguments do you see for or against this rule?  Do you see anything in §1982 or §3604 that supports it?  What arguments would you have made to the jury about whether the acts of the owner in this case justified a punitive damages award?  Should Brougham’s failure to apologize matter?
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
FRAZIER v. ROMINGER

27 F.3d 828 (2d Cir. 1994) 

WALKER, Circuit Judge:  
Plaintiffs brought an action ... alleging that defendants unlawfully discriminated against the individual plaintiffs when defendants failed to rent them an apartment.  After a two-week trial, the jury returned a verdict finding no violation of either the Fair Housing Act or 42 U.S.C. §1982. ...  In this appeal, plaintiffs argue that they were entitled to (1) judgment as a matter of law because defendants failed to rebut their prima facie case under the Fair Housing Act, or alternatively (2) a new trial because the district court failed to instruct the jury as to a cause of action for interference with the plaintiffs’ Fair Housing Act rights.  We affirm.

BACKGROUND

  
Eddie Frazier, who is African-American, and Diane Treloar, who is white, were looking to rent an apartment together on Long Island.  In the course of their search, they contacted the defendants, Tony and Anna Maria Rominger, who had placed an apartment advertisement in New York Newsday.  On July 28, 1991, Mr. Rominger showed the apartment to Mr. Frazier and Ms. Treloar.  Prior to this meeting, Mr. Rominger had shown the apartment to four other individuals, all of whom were white.

Although the parties disagree over certain aspects of the July 28, 1991 meeting, the central facts are not in dispute.  After about fifteen minutes of inspecting the apartment and surrounding grounds, with Ms. Treloar taking the lead in asking questions about the apartment, Mr. Frazier and Ms. Treloar embraced and informed Mr. Rominger that they would take the apartment. At this point, Mr. Rominger stated that they would have to fill out an application.  Further, he indicated at some point during the meeting that he preferred to rent to a single person, although the advertisement had stated that the apartment was for one or two people.  Finally, he explained to the couple that he had already shown the apartment to another individual whom he preferred over the couple because that prospective tenant was a handyman.

Plaintiffs contended ... that once Mr. Rominger realized that the apartment would be for both Ms. Treloar and Mr. Frazier, [his] manner noticeably changed, and he began making excuses to deny them the apartment.  Mr. Rominger testified that he had assumed from the outset that the apartment would be for both Ms. Treloar and Mr. Frazier.

The couple became quiet as they left the apartment with Mr. Rominger.  When they reached the front of the building, Mr. Frazier questioned Mr. Rominger about his apparent hesitancy in renting the apartment.  Mr. Frazier asked Mr. Rominger, “Is this a racial thing?”  Mr. Rominger replied, “Of course not. Everybody has to fill out an application.”  The parties dispute the tone of the conversation.  Mr. Rominger testified that Mr. Frazier’s “voice was very angry.”  Mr. Frazier, for his part, testified that, although he was “very direct and to the point,” he never raised his voice or argued with Mr. Rominger.  After this brief exchange, Mr. Frazier became silent.  Mr. Rominger gave an application to the plaintiffs, and Ms. Treloar filled it out.  The plaintiffs left shortly thereafter.  There is no dispute that Mr. Rominger failed to follow up on the couple’s application and did not return their telephone calls.

The next day, Ms. Treloar went to the offices of plaintiff Long Island Housing Services (“LIHS”) to complain that Mr. Rominger had discriminated against the couple.  ... LIHS sent three testers:  one African-American male, one white couple, and one white male.  The first tester, the African-American male, went to see the apartment on July 31, 1991, three days after Mr. Rominger’s meeting with Mr. Frazier and Ms. Treloar.  Mr. Rominger gave this first tester an application, and he later testified that this individual was “right on top of the list” to receive the apartment.  In fact, the day after their meeting, Mr. Rominger began checking his references.  However, the tester had supplied fictitious references on the application.  After repeated unsuccessful efforts to confirm these references, Mr. Rominger eventually became frustrated and gave up on this individual.

The second tester sent by LIHS was a white couple.  When they arrived to see the apartment, Mr. Rominger also gave them an application to fill out.  Shortly after viewing the apartment, this tester couple called up Mr. Rominger and left a message that they were no longer interested.

The final tester was a white male.  As he did with the plaintiffs, Mr. Rominger showed him the apartment, gave him an application to fill out, and told him that he had others interested in the apartment.  Mr. Rominger then went away on business and Mrs. Rominger went to South America to visit her family.  The tester called Mrs. Rominger upon her return and said he would take the apartment but was told that he must await Mr. Rominger’s return.  Mr. Rominger, upon his return, showed the apartment again to the tester.  While Mr. Rominger was again away, the tester called Mrs. Rominger and insisted on renting the apartment, only to be told again to await Mr. Rominger’s return. Mrs. Rominger eventually acceded to his continued demands and told him to bring the money for the apartment.  The tester called up the next day and stated that he could not take the apartment because his wife had just lost her job.  It is undisputed that the apartment remained vacant until October of 1991, when a white couple rented the apartment.  That rental lasted only one month, however, and thereafter the apartment was rented to a single Hispanic woman.

The defense presented evidence that five of the previous fifteen tenants of the apartment were minorities.  The jury heard testimony from a prior tenant of the Romingers, an African-American woman, who testified that the Romingers were fair to her and that race was never an issue.  Further, the Romingers described another prior tenant, an African-American family, who were not only tenants but close friends of the Romingers.  Finally, Mrs. Rominger, described by the district judge as a Brazilian with dark skin, testified that she is of mixed-race heritage and that numerous of her relatives were “black,” “Indian,” and “Italian.”

Although in preliminary requests to charge the jury, defendants had posited several reasons for denying the apartment to Mr. Frazier and Ms. Treloar, at the charging conference, defendants settled on only one reason: because Mr. Frazier unfairly raised the issue of race discrimination in their July 28, 1991 meeting.  Mr. Rominger testified that being accused of race discrimination made him feel very uncomfortable, and that he considered it important to feel comfortable with his tenants.

As soon as it became clear at the charging conference that the Romingers were relying solely on this proffered justification, plaintiffs moved for a directed verdict, arguing that this justification was neither legitimate nor nondiscriminatory.  The district court denied the motion.  Plaintiffs also requested the court to charge the jury on a retaliation theory premised upon 42 U.S.C. §3617.  The district court pointed out that such a claim was never pleaded in the complaint notwithstanding that all the necessary facts were known to plaintiffs before trial.  Treating the request as a motion to conform the pleadings to the proof, the court declined to so charge the jury.  The jury returned a verdict for the Romingers on both plaintiffs’ Fair Housing Act claim and 42 U.S.C. §1982 claim.  The district court denied plaintiffs’ motion for judgment as a matter of law and motion for a new trial.  This appeal followed.

DISCUSSION

I.   Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law.  Plaintiffs first argue that they were entitled to judgment as a matter of law on their [FHA] claim because defendants failed to rebut their prima facie case.  Under the burden-shifting framework originally established in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), which is applicable to cases brought under the Fair Housing Act, see Robinson v. 12 Lofts Realty, 610 F.2d 1032, 1039 (2d Cir.1979), if a plaintiff presents a prima facie case of discrimination, the burden of production shifts to the defendant to come forward with a “legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason” for the adverse action.  Texas Dep’t of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 254 (1981).  If the defendant fails to offer a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason, then the plaintiff is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  There is no dispute that the plaintiffs established a prima facie case at trial, namely, that Mr. Frazier is African-American, that the couple was qualified for the housing, that the couple did not get the housing, and finally that the housing remained open. Plaintiffs argue that the sole proffered justification for denying the couple the apartment—Mr. Frazier’s question as to whether the perceived hesitancy was “a racial thing” and the discomfort this question engendered on Mr. Rominger’s part—was neither legitimate nor nondiscriminatory.  Therefore, they maintain that they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

The Supreme Court in St. Mary’s Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (1993), clarified the guiding standards in this area:

At the close of the defendant’s case, the court is asked to decide whether an issue of fact remains for the trier of fact to determine.  None does if, on the evidence presented, (1) any rational person would have to find the existence of facts constituting a prima facie case, and (2) the defendant has failed to meet its burden of production—i.e., has failed to introduce evidence which, taken as true, would permit the conclusion that there was a nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse action.  In that event, the court must award judgment to the plaintiff as a matter of law....

… Thus, the difficult question squarely presented for our review is whether a landlord’s concerns that arose when the applicant asked if the perceived hesitancy to rent was “a racial thing” could constitute a “legitimate, nondiscriminatory” reason to reject a prospective tenant’s application, thus permitting the case to go to the jury.  We believe that, in the circumstances of this case, it can.

  
Mr. Rominger testified that Mr. Frazier’s questioning of his requirement of a completed application as racially motivated led to a feeling of discomfort, and that he would prefer to have tenants with whom he felt comfortable.  On cross-examination, Mr. Rominger discussed the encounter in the July 28, 1991 meeting:

It’s a little hard to have a prospective tenant, and you have these kind of arguments in front of the house, and being charged with racial discrimination. I feel if there is no further contact I probably don’t rent an apartment to somebody like this.

I showed the apartment and in no way that I offended anybody.  I stated the fact that there was other people before, and it is true.  And I said to them if there is one person who would like to have the apartment, then that person is maybe more likely to get the apartment than two people.  And I had a person who was very much interested in the apartment.  And I wanted to convey—to convey that to them.  So they get angry.  And I feel that if they would have maybe said, I am sorry, maybe I overreacted, then they had a good chance to get the apartment.

In this context, we believe that Mr. Rominger articulated a legally acceptable explanation for denying Mr. Frazier and Ms. Treloar the apartment which the jury was free to accept or reject.  Mr. Rominger’s proffered reason was not based on Mr. Frazier’s race, but rather on what Mr. Rominger viewed as an unfair accusation that he was a racist.  We cannot say that the uncomfortable feeling induced by the perception of an unfounded accusation of racism is as a matter of law an unacceptable basis to decline to rent to an individual.

Mr. Rominger offered a subjective explanation why he rejected Mr. Frazier and Ms. Treloar.  Courts frequently permit such subjective explanations to be considered by the fact-finder.  See Soules v. U.S. Dep’t of Hous. & Urban Dev., 967 F.2d 817, 823 (2d Cir.1992) (tenant rejected not because of familial status but because of her “negative and combative attitude”); Washington v. Sherwin Real Estate, Inc., 694 F.2d 1081, 1090 (7th Cir.1982) (tenant rejected not because of race but because of his “rude and belligerent behavior in the real estate office”).  To be sure, subjective explanations such as these should be examined very closely.  In some cases, it may be expected that these subjective justifications will be a sham, camouflaging nothing more than an animus towards minority applicants.  But in others, the proffered justification will accurately reflect the defendant’s real motivation.  In such a situation, it is peculiarly and rightfully the province of the fact-finder to determine a defendant’s true reasons for the adverse action.  

In this case, there was an abundance of evidence before the jury to the effect that Mr. Rominger’s conduct had nothing to do with race.  The defendants submitted evidence of a past record of renting to minority tenants, including the testimony of an African-American tenant who stated that the Romingers never treated her or her family unfairly on account of race.  See Sassower v. Field, 973 F.2d 75, 77 (2d Cir.1992) (evidence of past minority tenants tended to refute a claim of discrimination), cert. denied, 507 U.S. 1043 (1993).  Further, the testers’ failure to establish any discriminatory practices tended to support a finding of a lack of racial animus.  Moreover, Mr. Rominger testified that “We don’t look at the color of people,” and Mrs. Rominger, in response to the question whether she viewed tenants differently because they are black, responded, “Absolutely not. My family is black.  I am black myself, if you put it this way.”  She went on to describe her family’s mixed racial heritage.  Finally, the jury learned that the apartment, after a brief one-month tenancy, eventually was rented to an Hispanic female.

In conclusion, we believe that when it is viewed in the full context of this case, the defendants’ proffered reason for rejecting plaintiffs’ rental application—the uncomfortable feeling engendered after Mr. Frazier raised, unfairly in Mr. Rominger’s mind, the question of racial discrimination—can properly be considered by the fact-finder to be a legitimate, nondiscriminatory justification.  Therefore, the district court properly denied plaintiffs’ motion for judgment as a matter of law. … [The court’s rejection of the plaintiffs’ interference claim will be covered in Unit II].

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
17.  In Frazier, what was the evidence supporting the plaintiff?  Supporting the defendant?  If you represented the defendant, what arguments could you make about weaknesses in the plaintiffs’ tester evidence?  If you were the plaintiffs’ lawyer, what could you have done to strengthen this evidence?

18.  Do you agree with the court that the defendant’s proffered reason in Frazier was non-discriminatory?  What policy arguments can you see that support the decision?   That undermine it?
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
PINCHBACK v. ARMISTEAD HOMES CORP.

907 F.2d 1447 (4th Cir. 1990)

BUTZNER, Senior Circuit Judge:  In this appeal, we must consider whether the “futile gesture” theory applies to acts of housing discrimination.  The district court concluded that it does and held Armistead Homes Corporation [(“Armistead”)] liable under 42 U.S.C. §1981 [and] §1982 ... for denying Karen Pinchback housing opportunities because she is black.  We ... affirm .... 

I.  This case is before us because of Karen Pinchback’s efforts to secure suitable housing in Armistead Gardens, Baltimore, Maryland. ...  Armistead exercised control over the composition of the Armistead Gardens community.  Armistead Gardens is a cooperative arrangement made up of “members” who purchase 99 year leases from the corporation.  The corporation retains a fee interest in the housing units and grants the members the right to renew their leases.  When a member sells a unit, Armistead does little if anything to locate potential buyers.  However, Armistead has the right of first refusal of any offer and can simply veto a sale.  Armistead also has a membership committee, composed of residents, who screen prospective buyers by seeing them in person and making recommendations to Armistead’s board of directors.  The board exercises broad supervisory powers and must give its approval before a prospective buyer can become a member of the Armistead Gardens community.   At the time of trial, Armistead Gardens was over 30 years old and never had a black member, although a few black persons had applied. The district court concluded Armistead Gardens was “more than just a neighborhood;  it is a cooperative housing development where the members ... determine who is, and who is not, permitted to become an Armistead leasehold owner.” 

Responding to an advertisement in a Baltimore newspaper for a “starter home” costing only $12,000, Pinchback phoned a real estate agent, Diane Dailey, who was employed by Roy E. Jones Real Estate, the firm retained by the seller of the home to find a buyer. ... When Pinchback called, Dailey asked her whether she was black, and when Pinchback told her that she was, Dailey informed her that the community in which the home was located did not permit blacks to live there. That community was Armistead Gardens.  Pinchback took Dailey at her word and assumed that the description of Armistead’s policy was accurate.  Dailey showed Pinchback some homes in other neighborhoods, but none interested her.

Pinchback reported the incident to an investigator with the Department of Housing and Urban Development.  She then initiated this lawsuit against Armistead, Dailey, Jones Real Estate, and several of its officials, charging violations of her rights under §§1981 and 1982 [and] Title VIII.  As the case moved towards trial she eventually settled with all of the defendants except Armistead.  The Title VIII claim was dismissed because the statute of limitations had run.

The district court conducted [a] bench trial on the remaining claims.  The court found that Armistead discriminated against blacks and injured Pinchback as a result.  Pinchback was awarded $2,500, attorneys fees and costs.  The court also ordered detailed injunctive relief designed to cure the racist policies it found at Armistead Gardens.

The district court applied the “futile gesture” or “futile act” theory developed in Title VII employment discrimination law to Pinchback’s housing claims.  The court found that Armistead had a discriminatory policy and would have rejected Pinchback had she actually applied for a leasehold interest at Armistead Gardens.  The court also found that Pinchback would have applied but for the policy and was put off by a reasonably held belief that filling out and submitting an application was a waste of time.  The court concluded that Armistead’s discrimination injured Pinchback despite the absence of actual application and rejection.  

This conclusion turns on a number of specific factual findings.  Armistead was found to have a policy of discriminating against blacks, which we discuss more fully in section II below.  The court found that when Pinchback responded to the ad she was a potential bona fide purchaser who was financially able to buy the property and sincerely interested in it. Importantly, the court considered whether Pinchback’s reliance on Dailey’s description of the policy reasonably deterred her from applying. Although Dailey represented the leasehold seller and had no official connection to Armistead, the court found that Pinchback “reasonably regarded” Dailey as a “reliable information source, thereby justifying Pinchback’s decision to forego applying to Armistead Gardens.” The court also found Armistead to be the source, “directly or indirectly,” of Dailey’s information about the racist policy at Armistead Gardens.  

II.  Armistead first contends that Pinchback failed to prove Armistead discriminated against blacks.  There was, in the words of the district court, “little evidence establishing that Armistead actually refused to approve the leasehold application of a black person.” Armistead suggests that evidence of this sort is necessary to prove that blacks receive discriminatory treatment, as it is hard otherwise to tell if blacks are considered by different criteria than white applicants.  Armistead also argues that what other evidence there was of racism at Armistead proved only prejudice on the part of individual residents and officials, not a community policy of discrimination.

The record belies this argument.  Two former members of Armistead’s governing board, Diana Lynn Ward and Margie Conant, gave a detailed account of the board’s hostility towards blacks.  Their testimony reveals a singular anxiety on the part of the board over the prospect of blacks coming into the community.  Ward and Conant each spoke of instances in which the board considered strategies at its regular meetings to keep blacks out.  The discussions were usually deleted from the recordings made by Armistead of the meetings.  The attitudes expressed went beyond mere personal prejudice, depicting the policy of Armistead itself.  On several occasions, for instance, one board president intimated to residents that any attempt to sell property to blacks would be rejected by Armistead through the board’s screening process and veto power.  Ward also recounted that a board member declined to tell one prospective black applicant of financing help available through Armistead in order to discourage an application.  There was testimony as well indicating that the board discussed how to target a white audience when advertising to the community.  The board’s attitude is best summarized by a former board president who said of this litigation, “if we don’t beat this case, we’ll have every nigger in Baltimore coming here.”  

It seems quite clear that the district court correctly found a racially discriminatory policy at Armistead.  The discrimination worked primarily to deter black interest in the community from ever forming.  Its effectiveness is apparent.  The district court chose to credit the testimony of the two insiders, Ward and Conant, observing that “the Armistead board as a collective group was hostile to blacks.” Their testimony was corroborated to an extent by a HUD investigator, who testified that the Armistead office manager informed him that although blacks had applied for membership at Armistead Gardens, none had been accepted.  The court characterized in part Armistead’s rebuttal testimony as “blatantly incredible” and granted it little weight.   Armistead’s challenge to the factual finding fails accordingly.

III.  Armistead also assigns error to the district court’s adoption of the “futile gesture” doctrine as the basis of liability under §§1981 and 1982.  Although the doctrine is an accepted part of federal fair employment law, Armistead opposes its application to the housing claims in this case.  It believes the extension is unwarranted.

The doctrine was first recognized in Int’l Brotherhood of Teamsters v. U.S., 431 U.S. 324 (1977), where the Supreme Court affirmed a finding that a common carrier and a union had violated Title VII by discriminatory hiring and promotion policies.  While many of the company’s employees had applied for promotions and been discriminatorily rejected, others had not applied because the company’s discriminatory practices were well known to them.  The company argued that the failure to apply barred recovery because the nonapplicants did not suffer direct harm from discrimination.  Deciding which employees were entitled to relief, the Supreme Court had this to say:

[T]he company’s assertion that a person who has not actually applied for a job can never be awarded seniority relief cannot prevail....  A consistently enforced discriminatory policy can surely deter job applications from those who are aware of it and are unwilling to subject themselves to the humiliation of explicit and certain rejection....  When a person’s desire for a job is not translated into a formal application solely because of his unwillingness to engage in a futile gesture he is as much a victim of discrimination as is he who goes through the motions of submitting an application.

The Court remanded the case with instructions to determine which nonapplicants would have applied but for the company’s practices. The Court limited recovery to those employees whose demonstrable interest in the position was cut short by actual knowledge of unlawful practices.

Subsequent cases in our court and others demonstrate how integral to fair employment law the futile gesture idea has become.  … It is now accepted that the failure to apply for a job does not preclude recovery if a claimant can demonstrate that he would have applied but for accurate knowledge of an employer’s discrimination and that he would have been discriminatorily rejected had he actually applied. Of course, this is in addition to the other elements of a given employment claim such as possessing the necessary qualifications for the job.

Armistead insists that the futile gesture doctrine is an inappropriate basis for liability in this case for a number of reasons.  Its first objection is simply to the novelty of using the doctrine for a housing discrimination claim.

Armistead’s concern is ill-founded.  Fair employment concepts are often imported into fair housing law.  The foremost example is the prima facie proof test first established in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), for fair employment, which has become a fundamental part of Title VIII and §§1981 and 1982 fair housing law. See, e.g., Selden Apartments v. HUD, 785 F.2d 152, 159 (6th Cir.1986); Asbury;  Phiffer v. Proud Parrot Motor Hotel, Inc., 648 F.2d 548, 551 (9th Cir.1980).  Although fair employment and fair housing statutes create and protect distinct rights, their similarities have traditionally facilitated the development of common or parallel methods of proof when appropriate.  Consequently, we do not consider novelty a bar to the application of the doctrine.

Armistead contends that differences between typical housing and employment cases make an extension of the futile gesture doctrine unworkable.  Armistead suggests that the doctrine fits the employment setting well because often the typical nonapplicant who sues is an employee or someone connected with the employer in a manner that separates the nonapplicant from the casual man on the street.  This in turn usually means that it is the employer or someone closely associated with him who is the source of information about the challenged policy.  These attributes tend to guarantee that the employer has an active hand in discouraging the application.  By contrast, Armistead sees in this case many ills which will lead to voluminous, frivolous litigation over fair housing.  Armistead emphasizes that Pinchback had no direct contact with it, learning of its policy through a real estate agent with no official ties to the corporation.

We do not share Armistead’s concern about frivolous litigation in light of the careful treatment the district court has given the futile gesture theory as the basis for recovery.  As viewed by the district court, the following elements must be satisfied to establish a violation of fair housing law by reliance on the futile gesture theory:  the plaintiff must be a member of a racial minority who was a potential bona fide buyer of the property and financially able to purchase it at the time it was offered for sale;  the owner discriminated against people of the plaintiff’s race;  the plaintiff was reliably informed of this policy of discrimination and would have taken steps to buy the property but for the discrimination; and the owner would have discriminated against the plaintiff had the plaintiff disclosed an interest in the property. The district court found that Pinchback satisfied these elements of a fair housing claim based on the futile gesture theory.  Its findings are amply supported by the record.

Pinchback was not required to do more than she did.  She had no need to examine the property after Dailey told her no blacks could live there for precisely the same reasons why she had no need to exercise the futility of submitting an offer.  The burden of humiliation occasioned by discrimination is heavy.  When one has felt it as Pinchback did here, we cannot require the victim to press on meaninglessly.

To borrow from an illustration in Justice Stewart’s Teamsters opinion, if Armistead should announce its policy of discrimination by a “Whites Only” sign, its “victims would not be limited to the few who ignored the sign and subjected themselves to personal rebuffs.”  431 U.S. at 365.  This is the crux of the futile gesture doctrine.  The discrimination is no less because Armistead conveyed its message by subtle means.  The victims who were reliably informed of Armistead’s policy would not be limited to those who approached Armistead and were rebuffed.  Pinchback, who was unwilling to engage in the futile gesture of submitting an offer for the property, is nonetheless a victim of discrimination.  

IV.  Armistead complains that Pinchback failed to meet her initial prima facie burden under McDonnell Douglas and hence cannot prevail under §§1981 or 1982.  Not surprisingly, Armistead identifies as the missing elements Pinchback’s failure to apply and the lack of an outright rejection from Armistead.  It appears that Armistead is simply recasting its opposition to the futile gesture doctrine in terms of a prima facie showing.

The McDonnell Douglas scheme is a recognition that direct proof of unlawful discrimination is often difficult to obtain.  It permits a plaintiff to make an initial showing, indirect in nature, that raises a presumption of illegality. This scheme is routinely used in housing and employment discrimination cases alike.

The district court concluded that Pinchback produced sufficient direct evidence of discrimination to prove Armistead violated §§1981 and 1982. Because she proved purposeful discrimination directly, largely through the testimony of former board members Ward and Conant, the McDonnell Douglas method of proof is irrelevant.  All of this is explained in United States Postal Service Board v. Aikens, 460 U.S. 711, 713-14 (1983), in which the Court said:  “Because this case was fully tried on the merits, it is surprising to find the parties and the Court of Appeals still addressing the question whether Aikens made out a prima facie case.  We think that by framing the issues in these terms, they have unnecessarily evaded the ultimate question of discrimination vel non.”  See also Trans World Airlines v. Thurston, 469 U.S. 111, 121 (1985) (“[T]he McDonnell Douglas test is inapplicable where the plaintiff presents direct evidence of discrimination.”). ...

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
19.  In Pinchback, what was the evidence for the plaintiff?  Are you comfortable with the attribution of intent to the Board from the evidence presented?  
20.  Should the standards for judging actions taken by votes of Condominium and Homeowners’ Association Boards be the same as those applied to city council votes in cases like Fall River? 
21.  Pinchback applies the “futile gesture” doctrine developed in Title VII cases. What is the purpose of the doctrine?  What harm would there be in requiring the plaintiff to make the gesture, even if futile, in order to get standing to sue?   

22.  The Pinchback court sets out the elements of the “futile gesture” doctrine.  Do they seem sensible?  Is this a good case for their application?

23.  The defendant in Pinchback argued that the “futile gesture” doctrine should not apply in Title VIII cases because housing differs from employment.  What differences did they argue were significant?  Was the court’s response satisfactory?   
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
C.  Dialogue Between Courts and Legislatures

1.  THE LEGISLATIVE PROCESS
HOW A BILL BECOMES A FEDERAL LAW 

from

William N. Eskridge, Jr. & Philip P. Frickey

Cases And Materials On Legislation:  Statutes and the Creation

of Public Policy 26-28, 30-34 (2d Ed. 1995)


... The Constitution of 1789 sets forth the basic structure [of the main legislative process choices our society has made]:  laws will be enacted by elected "representatives," not by the people directly or by some authoritarian person or group, and such laws will have to be approved by two legislative chambers and the chief executive.  "All legislative powers herein granted shall be vested in a Congress of the United States, which shall consist of a Senate and House of Representatives," U.S. Const. art.  I, §1. House members are "chosen every second Year by the People of the several states," id. §2, and each state has two Senators, "elected by the people thereof." Id. amend.  XVII.  Other rules for elections of Senators and Representatives are left to the states, with provision for superseding congressional regulation.  Id. art.  I, §4. "Every Bill which shall have passed the House of Representatives and the Senate, shall, before it become a Law, be presented to the President of the United States." If the President signs it, the "Bill" is "Law"; if he returns it without signature, it is not "Law" unless two-thirds majorities of each chamber vote to enact.  Id. §7.


Most of the procedures followed in Congress are the products of history and custom, rather than constitutional mandate.  ... [T]here are many interstitial barriers to legislation, such as committee consideration, scheduling delays, filibusters, and amendments.


Attorneys must understand the legislative process to perform their duties competently.  Statutes or administrative regulations promulgated under statutory authority, and not the common law, regulate most matters today.  Attorneys frequently are called upon to draft legislation, to lobby the legislature, to interpret statutes and regulations when advising clients, and to persuade the administrative official charged with enforcing a statute or the judge in a case where statutory meaning is contested that one interpretation is preferred to others.  Moreover, the legislative process followed in enacting a statute may be relevant in assessing a constitutional challenge to it.  The discussion that follows focuses on the federal legislative process.  State legislatures usually follow similar procedures as well.

1.  Introduction of Bills.  More than 100,000 bills are introduced in the 50 state legislatures each biennium, and more than 20,000 in each Congress.  Bills may be introduced in the U.S. House of Representatives by a Member's dropping copies into the "hopper," a box near the Clerk's desk.  U.S. Senators introduce bills by giving copies to a clerk or by a statement on the floor.  One or both of these methods are used in state legislatures.




Although only legislators can introduce bills in legislatures, the legislators themselves do not usually come up with the ideas for major bills or draft them.  The executive proposes or drafts much of the important legislation considered by the legislature. ... Indeed, the President may be the country's chief law-initiator. ... Private groups also present draft bills to members of the legislature and/or advise them about amendments to bills proposed by the executive. ...




State legislatures are often even more dependent upon state attorney generals' offices and private groups to draft legislation than Congress is, because they do not have the staff support of Congress.  The staff situation in state legislatures has improved greatly in the last 20 years, however.  Many states provide personal staff to individual legislators, and most states have competent staff associated with legislative committees.

2. Committee Consideration.  Bills are routinely referred to standing committees by the presiding officer of the legislative chamber.  House Rule X,  clause 5(a) requires the Speaker to refer a bill to the committee(s) having jurisdiction over its subject matter. (Clause 5 was amended in 1975 to give the Speaker the power to send parts of the same bill to more than one committee, to send the whole bill to more than one committee, and/or to create an "ad hoc committee" to consider a bill.) Senate Rule XIV and the rules in many state legislatures do not absolutely require referral of bills to the appropriate committees, but the practice is to do so.



The committee system is a polite way to kill most legislative initiatives, but the committee process is useful for bills that have a good chance of being enacted.  The committee can iron out difficulties with the bill and build a consensus in favor of it.  The key person is the chair of the committee.  If the chair refuses to schedule hearings for a bill or refer the bill to subcommittee, or refers the bill to a hostile subcommittee, the bill will usually die - even if most of the committee members favor the bill. (House Rule XI and Senate Rule XXVI permit a majority of the committee to compel the chair to place a bill on the agenda.... This is a maneuver rarely threatened and almost never attempted.)



The chair is also the key person if the bill is actively considered.  The committee or subcommittee chair schedules hearings, determines who will be witnesses at the hearings, and often asks most of the questions.  The chair also sets the agenda for markup of the bill, in which the committee or subcommittee discusses each section or part of the bill and votes on proposed amendments. ... 



If the committee marks up the bill to its satisfaction and votes to send it to the full legislative chamber, the committee staff drafts a report on the bill which will be circulated to the other legislators.  This is mandatory in both chambers of Congress (House Rule XI; Senate Rule XXV) and is the prevailing practice in state legislatures as well.  Committee reports in Congress set forth the procedural and substantive background of the reported bill, the exact language of the bill, and a section-by-section analysis of the bill; such reports in state legislatures are often shorter and more general descriptions of reported bills.  Committee reports are frequently the only documents that most legislators and/or their staffs will read before a vote is taken on the bill.  Reports are not only the principal means of communicating committee decisions to the chamber, but are also persuasive briefs setting forth the factual and policy reasons justifying the proposed legislation.  Committee members dissenting from all or part of the report are entitled to set forth their views as well.

3.  Scheduling Legislative Consideration.  Bills reported by committee are placed on a "calendar" of the legislative chamber.  The most complex calendar arrangement is that of the U.S. House.  It has five calendars: (i) the Union Calendar for bills raising revenue, general appropriation bills, and public bills directly or indirectly appropriating money or property; (ii) the House Calendar for all other public bills; (iii) the Private Calendar for bills advancing the individual's claim against the government; (iv) the Consent Calendar for expedited minor bills which have appeared on the Union or House Calendar; and (v) the Discharge Calendar, consisting of motions to discharge (remove) bills from committees.  Additionally, (vi) bills may be called up and considered by the House itself, upon unanimous consent.  The U.S. Senate has only two calendars, the Calendar of General Orders and the special Executive Calendar for treaties and executive nominations.



Simply being on the appropriate calendar does not, of course, assure that the chamber will ever consider the bill.  Important bills will usually receive expedited consideration, before other bills ahead of them on the calendar.  In the House, the reporting committee will request a special order, or "rule," from the Rules Committee to advance the bill for expedited floor consideration.  The Rules Committee then decides whether it will propose a rule for the bill at all (its refusal to grant a rule effectively kills the bill for that session); what kind of rule to grant (an "open" rule permitting amendments, a "closed" rule prohibiting floor amendments, or a "modified closed" rule permitting specified floor amendments to be proposed); and when a bill is to be considered and how much time is to be devoted to debate.  The full House votes on the proposed rule; such rules are rarely defeated.



There is no Rules Committee in the Senate, and expedition is usually accomplished by a "unanimous consent agreement" (Senate Rule V).  Like a House rule, a Senate unanimous consent agreement is a roadmap for the bill's consideration: when it may be brought up, what amendments may be proposed, and how much time may be spent on it.  Unlike a House rule, a Senate unanimous consent agreement must be acceptable to all Senators; the objection of a single Senator torpedoes it.  ...


Most state legislatures use only a single calendar on which all pending bills ready for floor action are listed.  As in Congress, the order of listing is no reliable indication of when the bill will actually be considered: priority items of consequence are mixed with unimportant bills.  Oversimplifying a little, one can say that the actual order of consideration is determined in one of two ways, parallel to the two methods used in Congress.  Like the U.S. Senate, state legislatures with a strong party caucus system tend to have their agendas set by the majority leader and/or the majority party caucus.  Like the U.S. House, state legislatures in which parties are weak typically vest agenda control in calendar committees, rules committees, or an informal but less partisan mechanism.  In some states, the two methods effectively merge.  For instance, where the presiding officer of the legislative chamber is also the chair of the rules committee, there is little functional difference between the two methods.

4.
Floor Consideration: Debate, Amendment, Voting.  Once a bill has been placed on the agenda by the relevant committee and advanced for consideration by the full legislative chamber, the process is mostly automatic.  Most legislators routinely vote "yes," and the bill is passed.  That is, the chamber as a whole usually ratifies the decisions and compromises reached in the smaller groups (committees).  Of course, much important legislation ... is controversial.  It has to run the further gauntlet of floor consideration.  Three important things occur during serious floor consideration of controversial measures: debate, amendment, and vote.



Debate in federal and state legislatures is not what it once was.  Gone are the days when a Daniel Webster could hold a chamber spellbound by persuasive oratory, or a Henry Clay could engage in genuine argument with a John Calhoun.  In the U.S. House and most state chambers, debate is severely limited by general or special rules. (Indeed, because many state legislatures still only meet for several months each year, there is simply not enough time for serious public debate on more than a few issues.) Even where debate is not formally limited, as in the U.S. Senate, it normally consists of “set” speeches read by members to virtually empty chambers or pre-rehearsed questions posed to the bill's sponsor in order to build a legislative record on some issue.  A practice increasingly used by Members of Congress is simply to submit statements for printing in the Congressional Record, even though the statements were never uttered on the floor. (In 1972, the Congressional Record published an extensive speech by Representative Hale Boggs (D-La.) - several days after he disappeared in an apparent airplane crash.  The Record now identifies such post-hoc statements by a "bullet" (() before the statement.)



Few votes appear to be altered by floor debate; instead, debate is seen mainly in terms of its strategic value.  Members may use it to demonstrate that they are competent in a certain field of policy; to gain publicity for their positions; to attempt to pack the legislative history with remarks favorable to an interpretation they favor for the proposed legislation; and to delay bills to which a minority of the legislature are opposed.  For example, the filibuster used in the U.S. Senate enables a determined minority of the Senate to kill a bill or force concessions from the majority by extended talk.  Cloture (cutting off the talk) required a two-thirds vote of the Senators voting in 1964; under amended Senate Rule XXII, it now requires 60 votes.



More important than debate is amendment.  Once they have been reported by committee, bills can be amended on "second reading," in the legislature sitting as a committee of the whole, or on "third reading" (just before the final up or down vote is taken on the bill).  Amendment on third reading is rare and may require unanimous consent or some other special dispensation, and most legislative chambers do not follow the U.S. House practice of dissolving into a committee of the whole to consider amendments.  Hence, most  amendments are made on second reading.




Major bills on controversial subjects will attract numerous proposed amendments.  The reporting committee (through the chair or a sponsor) will sometimes propose "perfecting" amendments to correct minor problems with the bill or to attract more support for the bill.  Amendments from the floor may include minor amendments addressed to a narrow problem with the bill; “riders,” or amendments seeking to add irrelevant matter to the bill (riders are prohibited by House Rule XVI and the rules of some state legislatures); and hostile amendments.  As to the last category, "substitute amendments" seek to change provisions in the bill, often to weaken them.  "Amendments in the nature of a substitute" seek to replace the entire bill.  They often represent radically different approaches to the problem addressed by the bill, and adoption of such an amendment typically spells the end of the bill.  Even apparently friendly amendments may be lethal: by making the bill stronger, such a "killer amendment" may antagonize potential supporters of the bill.  Obviously, the sponsor of the bill, the reporting committee, and party leaders (if the bill is a party measure) will resist most amendments.




The vote on an amendment or a bill may be taken in one of four ways: voice vote, division of the house, tellers, and roll calls (increasingly by use of electronic devices).  The first three methods do not leave a record of how each member of the legislative chamber voted, but division (where the yeas and nays rise to be counted) and tellers (where the yeas pass down the aisle to be counted, then the nays) permit observers to record how each member voted.  The U.S. House of Representatives uses all four methods, and the Senate uses all but tellers.  One-fifth of a quorum may demand a roll-call vote in either chamber, except when the House committee of the whole is in session.




The number of votes needed to adopt an amendment or pass a bill is normally a majority of those voting in each house of Congress, assuming a quorum is present.  Many state legislatures, in contrast, require the votes of a majority of the members elected; thus, members not wanting to commit themselves against a measure may help defeat it simply by staying away when the vote is taken.  Extraordinary two-thirds majorities are needed for Congress to propose a constitutional amendment or to override a presidential veto or for the Senate to concur in a treaty.  At the state level, two-thirds majorities are usually required to override gubernatorial vetoes and to pass emergency legislation or special appropriation bills.

5.
The Reconciliation Process: Conference Committee.  In the prevailing system of bicameral legislatures, there must be a "meeting of the minds" of the two legislative chambers to enact statutes.  If the version passed by the U.S. House differs in any respect from that passed by the U.S. Senate, there is no enactment - unless one chamber recedes from its differences and joins the version of the other....  Sometimes the House and Senate send bills back and forth several times, acceding to part of the other chamber's alterations each time, in an effort to reconcile the two versions.




After both chambers have voted themselves into a state of disagreement, the last chamber to disagree may request a conference.  The Speaker of the House and the Presiding Officer of the Senate formally appoint the conferees, but in practice the chair and ranking minority member of each relevant committee will submit a list of proposed conferees, who are then appointed.  In both state and the federal legislatures, all of the members of the reporting committees in each chamber are often appointed.  There can be any number of conferees for either chamber, for any compromise adopted in conference must be approved by a majority of the conferees from each chamber.




The objectives of the conferees are, first, to preserve the provisions most important to their respective chambers and, second, to achieve an overall result acceptable to a majority in each chamber.  In Congress and most state legislatures, conferees are only authorized to consider matters as to which the bills passed by the two chambers are in disagreement.  Thus they may not strike or amend any part of the bill which is identical in both versions, nor may they insert new matter not germane to the differences, nor may they expand any provision beyond that found in either version.  When the conferees have reached agreement, they set forth their recommendations in a conference report, which will be printed in both chambers and will include a statement which explains the effect the amendments or propositions agreed upon by the conferees will have on the measure.




In the Congress, the chamber that did not request the conference acts first on the conference bill, because that chamber has the "papers" (the bill as originally introduced and the amendment to it).  That chamber has three options - adopt the conference bill, reject it, or recommit it to conference (which is tantamount to killing the bill).  If that chamber adopts the conference bill, the conference committee is dissolved, and the other chamber is faced with a straight up-or-down vote on the bill.  If the bill is agreed to by both chambers, a copy of the bill is enrolled for presentment to the President or the Governor for signature.

6.
Presentment for the Presidential or Gubernatorial Signature.  Under Article I, §7 of the U.S. Constitution, once an enrolled bill is presented to the President, the Chief Executive has ten days (not including Sundays) to sign it or veto it.  If the President vetoes the bill, it is returned to Congress, where the veto can be overridden by two-thirds of those voting in each chamber; the bill then becomes law without the President's signature.  In most cases, if no action is taken within the constitutional ten-day period, the bill also becomes law without the President's signature.  The exception to this last rule is that if Congress adjourns before the end of the ten-day period, and the President fails to sign the bill, it is killed by a "pocket veto." See The Pocket Veto Case, 279 U.S. 655 (1929).  Many bills are passed in the waning days of each Congress, and so the President often has ample discretion to kill legislation without immediate congressional override. ...




 The U.S. President must accept or reject the entire bill; if there are several provisions the President dislikes in the bill, the only formal option is to veto (or pocket veto) the entire bill.  State Governors typically have more options, because they can veto individual items in bills presented to them.  A similar "item veto" power has been proposed for the President and has been debated in the Senate, but at this writing nothing has been enacted.  [NOTE:  Since the publication of the Eskridge & Frickey casebook, Congress enacted legislation giving the President the power to veto individual items that are part of appropriations bills.  Subsequently, the Supreme Court declared this “line-item veto” unconstitutional.] 

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DIALOGUE BETWEEN COURTS AND LEGISLATURES 


The question presented in each of the scenarios described below is how the court interpreting a statute should take into account certain actions of the legislature that occur separately from the passage of the statute in question.  For each scenario, I have provided the sequence of events in question, an example, and a summary of common judicial responses and scholarly commentary.

LEGISLATIVE INACTION

T1: Legislature passes statute

T2: Court interprets statute

T3: Legislature does nothing

T4: Court gets same question about statute again

EXAMPLE: Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Service Corp., 465 U.S. 752 (1984). In 1911, the Supreme Court had ruled that the Sherman Act’s language prohibiting “contracts, combinations, or conspiracies of restraint of trade,” 15 U.S.C. §1, absolutely banned agreements between suppliers and distributors setting the prices at which the distributor would resell the supplier’s products. The Reagan administration argued in Monsanto that the rule should be changed.  The majority did not reach the issue, but Justice Brennan concurred to make the following point: 

... [T]he Solicitor General has filed a brief … urging us to overrule the Court's decision in Dr. Miles Medical Co. v. John D. Park & Sons Co., 220 U.S. 373 (1911).  That decision has stood for 73 years, and Congress has certainly been aware of its existence throughout that time.  Yet Congress has never enacted legislation to overrule the interpretation of the Sherman Act adopted in that case.  Under these circumstances, I see no reason for us to depart from our longstanding interpretation of the Act.  ...

DISCUSSION:  Generally speaking, courts tend to treat the earlier precedent in this type of case as more strongly binding than common law precedents.  The idea is that the legislature has acquiesced in the court’s interpretation by failing to overturn it.  Commentators question this assumption, arguing that there are other reasons the legislature may not revisit the issue.  For one thing, the group of people harmed by the court’s interpretation may not be powerful enough or have enough at stake to put sufficient pressure on the legislature to get the issue back on the legislative agenda.  For example, Professor Eskridge argues that when the Supreme Court interpreted Title VII to allow affirmative action, Congress may not have responded because the interests of white males were too diffuse to create the necessary political pressure.
  In addition, the legislators may see no benefit in taking up a particular issue, even if they disagree with the court, if the matter is too limited in scope or too technical for the general public to care.  As Professor Blatt argues, “Most precedent receives no attention outside the policy community, which standing alone has little influence upon the legislative agenda.” 
  

On the other hand, there may be value in a court sticking to its initial interpretations of a statute in order to force the legislature to take responsibility for the ongoing effects of its work.  If a legislature thinks that a court might change its interpretation of a controversial statute, the legislature may avoid tackling the difficult political decisions inherent in revisiting the issue itself.  For example, even if a majority of the Congress thinks affirmative action ought to be illegal under Title VII, they still may find it safer to root for the Supreme Court to reverse its interpretation of Title VII than to undertake a messy public political battle.  

REJECTED PROPOSALS

Regarding Issues Decided by the Court

T1: Legislature passes statute

T2: Court interprets statute

T3: Legislature considers a  bill that would overrule the court’s interpretation.  

T4: The bill either fails to come to a vote or is voted down

T5: Court gets same question about statute again

EXAMPLE:  Runyon v. McCrary, 427 U.S. 160 (1976), addressed whether 42 U.S.C. §1981 (S1 in your supplement) reached discriminatory conduct by private defendants.  In following the interpretation of §1982 presented in Jones, the Court relied on a rejected attempt by the Senate in 1971 to overrule Jones:

It is noteworthy that Congress in enacting the Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972 ... specifically considered and rejected an amendment that would have repealed the Civil Rights Act of 1866, as interpreted by this Court in Jones, insofar as it affords private-sector employees a right of action based on racial discrimination in employment. ... There could hardly be a clearer indication of Congressional agreement with the view that §1981 does reach private discrimination.

Regarding Issues Not Decided by the Court

T1: Legislature passes statute

T2: Legislature considers an amendment to make a point arguably left uncertain in the statute

T3: The bill either fails to come to a vote or is voted down

T4: Court gets a question that would have been resolved clearly by the rejected amendment

EXAMPLE:  NLRB  v. Catholic Bishops of Chicago, 440 U.S. 490 (1979), addressed whether the National Labor Relations Board had jurisdiction over labor disputes involving lay teachers in Catholic high schools. The statute in question, the National Labor Relations Act, listed a number of specific exemptions from the Board’s general jurisdiction over all labor matters, but did not list religious institutions or religious schools.  The majority found no jurisdiction, largely to avoid the complex constitutional religious freedom issues that would result from Board intervention in religious schools.  Justice Brennan dissented, relying on subsequent attempts to amend the statute:

The Hartley Bill, which passed the House of Representatives in 1947 would have provided the exception the Court today writes into the statute....  But the proposed exception was not enacted.  The bill reported by the Senate ... did not contain the Hartley exception.  ...  The Senate version was accepted by the House in Congress....

Moreover, it is significant that in considering the 1974 amendments [to the statute], the Senate expressly rejected an amendment proposed by Senator Ervin that was analogous to the one the court today creates – an amendment to exempt nonprofit hospitals operated by religious groups.  Senator Cranston, floor manager of the Senate Committee bill and primary opponent of the proposed religious exception, explained:

[S]uch an exception for religiously affiliated hospitals would seriously erode the existing national policy which holds religiously affiliated institutions generally such as proprietary nursing homes, residential communities, and educational facilities to the same standards as their nonsectarian counterparts.  120 Cong. Rec. 12957 (1974) [emphasis by Justice Brennan].

... Thus, the available authority indicates Congress intended to include – not exclude – lay teachers of church operated schools.

DISCUSSION:  Rejected proposals generally are considered an even stronger indication of legislative intent than legislative inaction.  The argument is that the legislature had the opportunity to adopt a particular position an chose not to.  On the other hand, some of the same arguments that apply to legislative inaction apply here as well.  Sometimes legislatures fails to enact legislation for reasons other than a substantive disagreement by the majority with the particular issue.  Moreover, the failure of the subsequent legislature to reach agreement on the particular issue does not necessarily resolve the question of what the enacting body intended at the time it acted.  A commonly repeated maxim is that “the views of a subsequent Congress form a hazardous basis for inferring the intent of an earlier one.”  See, e.g., Consumer Product Safety Commission v. GTE Sylvania, 447 U.S. 102, 117-18 (1980).  Judge Posner, who views legislation largely as the product of political bargaining, argues, "The deal is struck when the statute is enacted.  If courts paid attention to subsequent expression of legislative intent not embodied in any statute, they would be unraveling the deal that had been made; they would be breaking rather than enforcing the legislative contract." 

OTHER LEGISLATION

T1: Legislature passes statute not clearly resolving an important issue.

T2: Other statutes passed before or after the one in question provide insight into how the legislature feels about that issue in other contexts.

T3: Court gets a case requiring to resolve the important issue under the first statute.  

EXAMPLE: McFadden v. The Elma Country Club, 613 P.2d 146 (Wash. App. 1980), addressed whether the provision in Washington’s anti-discrimination statute, RCW 49.60.222, barring discrimination on the basis of “marital status,” covered a refusal to sell a housing unit to a cohabiting unmarried heterosexual couple.  In holding that it did not, the court argued:

RCW 49.60.222 was originally limited to discrimination because of race, creed, color, or national origin.  It was amended in 1973 to add discrimination because of sex or marital status to its coverage.  At that time RCW 9.79.120 provided in pertinent part: 

Every person who shall lewdly and viciously cohabit with another not the husband or wife of such person, . . . shall be guilty of a gross misdemeanor.

   
Such cohabitation was punishable by a jail term of up to 1 year or a fine of $ 1,000 or both. RCW 9.79.120 remained in effect until 1976, 3 years after the amendment of RCW 49.60.222 to cover marital status discrimination. Statutes are to be construed in accordance with legislative intent, and courts are required to view statutes as if the legislature has considered its prior enactments. The existence of the illegal cohabitation statute for 3 years after the amendment of RCW 49.60.222 would seem to vitiate any argument that the legislature intended "marital status" discrimination to include discrimination on the basis of a couple's unwed cohabitation.

    
Furthermore, in 1975 the legislature responded quickly to a Human Rights Commission ruling that it was an unfair practice under RCW 49.60.222, as it was then worded, for a college to permit occupancy of its student housing units by married couples, but not unmarried couples.  In response, the legislature promptly amended RCW 49.60.222, declaring it not to be an unfair practice or a denial of civil rights for such discrimination to occur in the colleges of this state.  Plaintiffs contend that the fact that this amendment did not extend beyond the college setting shows a legislative intent to prohibit discrimination of this kind in other areas.  We do not agree.  While the amendment purports to address only the imminent college housing problem created by the Commission's ruling, we believe the declaration in the amendment expresses a broader public policy against protection of unmarried living arrangements.

EXAMPLE: In National Collegiate Athletic Association v. Board of Regents of The University of Oklahoma, 468 U.S. 85 (1984), the Supreme Court had to decide whether the NCAA’s policy of  forbidding universities from independently marketing college football games to TV broadcasters violated the Sherman Act’s language prohibiting “contracts, combinations, or conspiracies of restraint of trade,” 15 U.S.C. §1.   In finding a violation, Justice Stevens, writing for the Court, noted:

[I]t is not without significance that Congress felt the need to grant professional sports an exemption from the antitrust laws for joint marketing of television rights. See 15 U.S.C. §§1291-1295. The legislative history of this exemption demonstrates Congress' recognition that agreements among league members to sell television rights in a cooperative fashion could run afoul of the Sherman Act….

DISCUSSION: There is some clear logic in looking for legislative intent in other enactments, and courts do it often (though by no means always).  Indeed, we’ve already seen a discussion of this type in Jones when Justice Stewart addresses the significance of the passage of the FHA for the court’s interpretation of §1982.  However, Professors Eskridge and Frickey note a number of problems with the practice.
  First, there might be several analogous statutes to examine, and they might suggest different results.  Second, the other statute may embody different policy concerns.  Third, the legislature may have reached a deliberate political compromise in one or both of the statutes being compared.  Applying the compromise solution of one legislature to a problem unaddressed by another may not give a good indication of how the latter would have handled the problem in the different context and political climate it faced.  Professor Blatt suggests that the usefulness of looking at related statutes may depend on which interpretive community was primarily responsible for the legislation in question: “The continuity of the policy community means that its views are likely expressed in borrowed, concurrent, and subsequent statutes.  The volatility of the political community makes it less probable that its views carry over from statute to statute.”
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2.  STATUTORY INTERPRETATION PROBLEM:  MIXED MOTIVES
THE SPECIAL PROBLEM OF MIXED MOTIVES


The articulations of the burden shift in McDonnell Douglas and Burdine do not address the problem of mixed motives.  That is, is an employer guilty of discrimination if it takes action against an employee partly because of some forbidden reason like race or sex and partly for legitimate reasons such as mediocre job performance or insubordination?  As we have seen, courts applying the Fair Housing Act stated that a defendant violated the Act if prohibited discrimination was a “significant factor” in the challenged decision.  See Marable; Rizzo; Sorenson. 
The Supreme Court addressed this issue in the context of Title VII in Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989). The Justices wrote four opinions in that case, none of which commanded a majority.  However, the opinions between them did establish a relatively clear procedure for addressing mixed motives cases. Under Price Waterhouse, if the plaintiff’s evidence demonstrates that forbidden discrimination was a substantial reason for the challenged decision, but was not the only reason, an additional step is added to the McDonnell Douglas scheme.  At that point, the burden shifts to the defendant to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that it would have made the same decision even if discrimination had played no part in the decision at all.   If the defendant meets this burden, there is no violation of Title VII.

Congress responded to Price Waterhouse by amending Title VII as part of the Civil Rights Act of 1991.  One new section, 42 U.S.C. §2000e-2 (m), provides that Title VII is violated in any case in which the complaining party establishes that forbidden discrimination was “a motivating factor” in the challenged decision.  A second new provision, §2000e-5(g)(2)(B), governs the remedies available in mixed motive cases.  Where the plaintiff has shown that discrimination was “a motivating factor” in the decision, but the defendant “demonstrates that [it] would have taken the same action in the absence of the impermissible motivating factor,” the court can award the plaintiff with declaratory relief, some injunctive relief, costs and attorney’s fees, but cannot award damages or order hiring or reinstatement.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
CATO v. JILEK

779 F.Supp. 937 (N.D. Ill. 1991)

SHADUR, District Judge:  Sheila ... and Joseph ... Cato ... and The Leadership Council for Metropolitan Open Communities (“Council”) sue George ... and Beverly ... Jilek ... under 42 U.S.C. §1982 and under Fair Housing Act [§3604] for alleged discrimination in the rental of housing.  Plaintiffs and Jileks have now moved separately for summary judgment ... [P]laintiffs’ motion is granted as to liability (but not yet as to damages), while Jileks’ motion is denied entirely.

Facts.  Sheila, a white woman, and Joseph, a black man, were married on September 12, 1990. Two months earlier (on July 5) Sheila (then known as Sheila Smith) and Joseph had inspected an apartment at 1461 Balmoral, Westchester, Illinois ... in a building owned by Jileks.  After they saw the apartment, Sheila told George that she wanted to rent the apartment and offered to put a deposit on it.  She explained to him that she and Joseph planned to marry on September 12 and that Joseph would be moving into the apartment after they were married.  George offered to send Sheila an application, but she told him that she already had a form of application at home (from another prospective landlord, but unused) and would send it to him.


Sheila recalls that during the telephone conversation … between them the next day, George told her that the apartment was unavailable because the previous tenant had decided not to leave.  Indeed, George’s recollection is that he then told Sheila that he had actually rented the apartment to someone else, though he may also have said that he wasn’t sure when the existing tenant was leaving.  According to Sheila, a few days later George repeated his indisputably false story about the apartment’s unavailability because the existing tenant was staying—this time when Sheila telephoned George on July 9.


Council is an Illinois not-for-profit corporation that promotes integrated housing in the Chicago Metropolitan area.  Jill Tivin ... and John Kuhnen ... , both of whom are white, were employees of Council during July 1990.  On July 10, acting as “testers” for Council and thus posing as Mr. and Mrs. Williams ..., Tivin and Kuhnen inspected the apartment. George decided to rent to the “Williamses” and accepted an application and deposit from Kuhnen on July 12.

  
… [P]laintiffs filed suit … alleging violations of §§1982 and 3604.  This Court entered a Temporary Restraining Order prohibiting Jileks from renting the apartment to anyone other than Catos.  On September 1 Jileks rented the apartment to Sheila.  ...

Section 3604 Liability.  Plaintiffs alleging disparate treatment under Title VIII are generally required to establish a prima facie case of discrimination by showing that (1) they belong to a minority group, (2) defendants were aware of that, (3) plaintiffs were willing and able to rent defendants’ apartment and (4) defendants refused to deal with plaintiffs.  That fits this case precisely under the facts set out in Jileks’ own [motion]:

1. 
Joseph is a member of a minority group, and Sheila was his fiancée (and is now his wife).11 

2. 
Jileks were aware that Joseph was black.12  

3. 
Catos expressed their desire to rent the apartment.13 

4. 
George told Sheila that the apartment was unavailable under one cover story or another, while in fact it remained on the market and was available to testers who viewed it five days later.

But Catos have gone far beyond that prima facie case by offering direct evidence of Jileks’ discriminatory motives.14  For example, George admitted in response to plaintiffs’ interrogatories:

The reason why Sheila Smith and Joseph Cato were not accepted, was because Carl [Heinrich],  the tenant in 1-South told me, if Plaintiffs became tenants in the building:  “George, if you rent the apartment to the two people you just showed the apartment to you will have a lot of trouble around here.” I was afraid of my tenants and what they would do to my new building or to the Plaintiffs so I offered the apartment to Mr. and Mrs. Williams.

And [his deposition] confirms that he understood Heinrich’s comments to be racially motivated and that the comments led directly to George’s rejection of Catos:

A. Because I was inflamed by Carl [Heinrich].  After Sheila and Joe Cato is his name, when they left the apartment, they left after I showed it to them, okay.  Then Carl came out and said, “George, I want to tell you something.  You rent this apartment to these two people and you are looking for a lot of trouble in this neighborhood.”

  
I says, “Is that so, Carl?”

He said, “I am right, George.”

   
I says, “Well, whatever you say, Carl.”

   
Well, that inflamed me, okay, that inflamed me.

Q. When you say “inflamed me,” what do you mean?

A. It inflamed me because I thought of what could happen then perhaps.

Q. What did—

A. I was thinking broken windows.  Maybe the tenants don’t like him, a lot of civil disobedience perhaps on the property there.  I don’t know, thinking about property damage to my apartment building.  Those are the things I thought of, okay.  Then I called Sheila the next day;  says, “Sheila, I have rented the apartment already so you just may as well forget this whole thing.”  ...

Q. Is that what you understood to be the case?  It was because Mr. Cato—

A. I assume it was because the man is black.  That’s what I assumed.16 

In the same vein, George also stated:

Q. Now, you did decide not to rent to Sheila and Joe because Joe was black;  right?

A. After I was inflamed by Carl.  I was ready to rent to them because I have a tenant there now that’s a minority.  Robert Ahrweiler, his new wife is Japanese.  I have no trouble with these people at all.  I rented it right out to them.  I would have rented it to Joe and Sheila too, but Carl inflamed me about the trouble there is going to be.

Q. Right.  And your understanding that trouble was because Joe was black;  right?

A. I would have to assume that’s what it was.

And later:

Q. Now, after Mr.[Heinrich] told you that if you rented to Sheila and Joe there would be problems, did you believe there would be problems?

A. Yes, I did. ...

Q. Why did you think there would be problems?

A. Because I have seen this before in different areas, okay.

George disclosed his own attitude (without Heinrich as a cover story) in his interactions with Kuhnen and Tivin.  Before making an appointment to show them the apartment, George specifically asked Kuhnen if they were white and upon learning that they were said, “Well, that’s fine”17 Then while Kuhnen and Tivin were viewing the apartment, George told them, “I would like to kill her [Sheila] for bringing a black man to my property”18 

  
Beverly too realized that her husband was rejecting Catos because Joseph was black, and she deferred to her husband’s judgment in that respect:

Q. So he did say to you that there might be a problem with the tenants because Mr. Cato is black;  correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And that conversation took place in July of 1990;  correct?

A. Yes.

Q. That was at the time that you were deciding to rent to the second couple; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And you deferred to his judgment on the question of who to rent to;  is that correct?

A. Yes.  Correct.  ...

In light of that direct evidence out of Jileks’ own mouths, there is no need to rely on a prima facie case approach.  That being true, the second step in the Section 3604 analysis parallels the analysis in Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989).19   Price Waterhouse teaches:

[W]hen a plaintiff in a Title VII case proves that her gender played a motivating part in an employment decision, the defendant may avoid a finding of liability only by proving by a preponderance of the evidence that it would have made the same decision even if it had not taken the plaintiff’s gender into account.

Bachman [v. St. Monica’s Congregation, 902 F.2d 1259 (7th Cir.1990)] explicates the same standard for Title VIII purposes:

To be actionable, racial prejudice must be a but-for cause, or in other words a necessary condition, of the refusal to transact.  Otherwise there is no harm from the prejudice—the harm would have occurred anyway--and without harm there is no tort, constitutional, statutory, or common law.

  
Hence if there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Jileks would have rejected Catos even without taking race into account, plaintiffs’ motion must be denied.

Jileks attempt to discount racial discrimination by contending that they actually rejected Catos because the couple was unmarried.  Jileks offer a few wisps in support of that proposition:

1.   George said at one point during his deposition:

How do I know the truth if she is getting married or not.  People say they are getting married, they are not getting married.  Who knows, okay.  I don’t know.  Well, because it’s really none of my business whether they are married or not;  but I have a right who I want in my apartment building.

2.   George asked both Sheila and Kuhnen about their marital status when they inquired about the apartment.

3.   Beverly testified that she disapproved of unmarried people living together and that she preferred married to unmarried couples as tenants.

4.   Beverly answered “[y]es” when asked:

Q. You mentioned earlier in your testimony that your husband mentioned two reasons ...   One, because Mr. Cato was black and there might be problems with the other tenants because he is black.  And the other reason because the first couple said they were married.   Weren’t those the two reasons that your husband discussed with you?20
  
Even when viewed in the light most favorable to Jileks, such scant evidence does not give rise to a reasonable inference that Catos’ marital status by itself would have led Jileks to reject Catos.  [Caselaw on summary judgment] negate[s] any requirement to draw overly strained (as contrasted with reasonable) inferences in the summary judgment framework.  For that purpose “[t]he mere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of [a party’s] position will be insufficient;  there must be evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for [that party]”  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 252 (1986).  Jileks’ evidence is really not even such a “scintilla”—it surely does not give rise to a reasonable inference that marital status influenced their decision.

Perhaps most importantly in that respect, Jileks (and even more distressingly, their lawyer) paint a blatantly false picture when they seek to portray George’s decision as a choice between renting the apartment to (1) a white woman applicant who would be living in the apartment either alone or with a boy friend—who by chance happened to be black--until the couple did or did not decide to get married and (2) a white married couple.  Only that fictional scenario enables Jileks to make the specious argument that they were indulging their preferences for married tenants over either single tenants or unmarried twosomes—neither of which preferences would run afoul of the statutory prohibitions against race-based discrimination.

But what gives the lie to that portrayal (indeed, what strips it of the protective mantle of good faith) is that George’s turndown of Sheila and Joseph came before the other couple (who were unknown to George to be testers) ever appeared on the scene.  George lied to Sheila, on the very next day after she had viewed the apartment on July 5, that it had become unavailable either because the previous tenant had decided not to leave or because George had actually rented the apartment to someone else (it doesn’t matter whose recollection of that telephone conversation is accepted—either way, George flat out lied).  It will be remembered that on that preceding day George had found Sheila’s proposed immediate tenancy, and Joseph’s prospective move-in after their September 12 marriage, totally acceptable—he had offered Sheila the application form to fill out and submit.

Only one factor changed between that total acceptability and the very next day’s unacceptability of Sheila and Joseph (which was masked by George’s lie about the apartment’s purported unavailability):  George’s having become alerted to potential anti-black attitudes among other tenants, a problem that he did not want to face.  And so the only possible inference, either reasonable or otherwise, is that George’s July 6 rejection of Sheila and Joseph—which George repeated on July 9, once again before the white “married” couple showed up—was race-motivated and hence unlawful.

Thus Jileks’ attempted injection of the marital status of the “Williamses” as a reason for finding them and not Catos acceptable tenants is a red (white?) herring.  In probative terms, the only critical significance of the “Williamses’ “ July 10 entry into the drama was not to demonstrate that George’s decision had been race-based (something that was definitively established as of four days earlier by George’s own admissions), but rather to establish that George had lied to Sheila when he said the apartment was off the market, using one false story or another as a euphemism for George’s race-triggered flip-flop as to Sheila’s and Joseph’s acceptability as tenants. Jileks’ specious house of cards—so painstakingly and lovingly constructed by their counsel—crashes because its base is wholly nonexistent.

Indeed, even on their own impermissible terms Jileks could not avert a summary judgment loss here.  Even if the critical timing of George’s rejection of Sheila before the tester couple ever showed up as prospective “tenants” were to be ignored (as it cannot be), the now-claimed comparison between Catos and the “Williamses” in terms of their marital status would not generate a genuine issue of material (that is, outcome-determinative) fact.

First, it has already been established through Jileks’ admissions that George and not Beverly made decisions about tenants—and here too she expressly deferred to his judgment as to Catos.  Thus Beverly’s statement regarding her own claimed preference for married tenants is irrelevant to the treatment that was accorded to Catos.  Moreover, even that statement was attenuated by her testimony that she was not biased against unmarried people and did not object to unmarried couples living in her building.

George himself has at no point said that marital status influenced his decision.  His one oblique reference to such status does not even rise to “scintilla” proportions in comparison with his numerous express admissions that Joseph’s race led him to reject Catos.  In fact, George admitted that “but for” Joseph’s race he would have rented to Catos when he said, “I was ready to rent to them [Joseph and Sheila] ... but Carl inflamed me about the trouble there is going to be.”  Beverly’s one statement that George “mentioned” marital status as well as race does not, given George’s own admissions, raise a genuine issue of material fact about his reasons.

Finally, even those scant mentions of marital status came up only during Jileks’ depositions.  In his written response to plaintiffs’ months-earlier written interrogatories as to Jileks’ motivations, George did not refer to marital status at all.  Instead he identified only one, speaking in singular terms:  Joseph’s race was “[t]he reason why Sheila Smith and Joseph Cato were not accepted.” 

When it comes to the issue of intent (and of establishing admissions on that score), that interrogatory response is plainly more reliable and compelling than Jileks’ later depositions for more than one reason.  First, unlike depositions, written responses to interrogatories are prepared statements. Jileks had the opportunity to consult with their attorney and consider their responses carefully before submitting them.  In addition, Jileks’ interrogatory responses were filed on September 21, 1990—just 2 1/2 months after George had actually rejected Catos’ tenancy.  George’s and Beverly’s depositions, on the other hand, were not taken until January 17 and March 27 of this year.  Thus no mention of marital status was made in this litigation--despite the express earlier opportunity to identify every motivation—until six months after Jileks had made their decision to reject Catos.  Hence the only reasonable inference is that marital status was not in George’s mind at the time that he did so, but was an afterthought advanced only under the prompting of this litigation.

  
Once again, though, it is important not to get caught in the deceptive snare that Jileks and their counsel have fashioned with the bogus marital status issue.  That argument cannot begin to explain George’s actions at the critical time that he rejected Catos’ tenancy—with no married couple even on the horizon as prospective tenants—by lying about the apartment’s availability, something explainable only in race-based terms.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

24.  Cato sets out a slightly different prima facie case than that used in Asbury.  What are the differences?  Is Cato’s a better test?  Why does the court say the test is unnecessary in this particular case?

25.   In Cato, what was the evidence supporting the plaintiff?  Supporting the defendant?  What was wrong with defendants’ claim that they had denied plaintiffs the apartment based on marital status?  Why is the court unhappy with the defendants’ lawyer? 

26.  Compare the Price Waterhouse test described in Cato and the note on “mixed motives” with the scheme laid out in the Civil Rights Act of 1991 (42 USC §§2000e-2(m) & 2000e-5(g)).  How are they different?  Does the difference tend to help plaintiffs or defendants?

27.  In footnote 19, Cato describes how Congress amended Title VII in the Civil Rights Act of 1991 in response to Price Waterhouse.  Should a court applying Title VIII follow the new Title VII standards or Price Waterhouse?  Try to develop arguments for each position.
28.  The lower federal courts adapted the burden shift from Title VII caselaw.  Are there differences between the two contexts that might make it more (or less) applicable in the employment context than in housing?  What other differences between housing and employment do you see that might suggest different treatment in anti-discrimination law?

29.  Look at the language of 42 U.S.C. §§1982 and 3604(a).  Is it appropriate for the court to create an elaborate scheme like the burden shift to interpret the language in those statutes? 

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION PROBLEM B 

This group exercise is an example of a task litigators often face in practice:  trying to derive general principles from a set of specific points made in a group of cases.    Discussion Question 12 addressed the Supreme Court’s list of factors to consider in determining the intent of a government entity.  For this assignment, based on the cases involving private defendants (Sorenson, Marable, Asbury, Pinchback, Cato, and Frazier), your group will develop a list of the kinds of evidence that seem to be important in proving whether or not a private defendant intentionally discriminated.  


For this exercise, I am looking for you to do more than simply list of specific bits of evidence.  Instead, try to generalize from the specific evidence discussed in the cases to create categories of evidence that you could use to guide the discovery process in a future case.  As a rough guide to the appropriate level of generality, you can look at the categories from Arlington Heights listed in Rizzo. 



Your group work product will take the form of a list of categories, each supported by one or more examples from the cases.  Your examples should consist of specific pieces of evidence that fall within the category that tend either to prove or disprove discriminatory intent.  The exercise will work best if each of you try, in advance, to create your own lists of categories with supporting examples.    

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
2 They do not appeal the lower court’s dismissal, based on the statute of limitations, of their companion claim under 42 U.S.C. §3604.


3 Raymond had called to ask about a briefcase he had forgotten earlier, which the Sorensons left at a neighbor’s apartment because of their intention to leave for the evening.


4 Whom he had seen earlier.  In response to an anxious neighboring tenant’s inquiry, he had stated that he did not intend to rent an apartment to the two girls, although he insists he meant only that they had never inquired about renting.


5 Although Raymond admitted to federal investigators several days after the incident that he would prefer not to rent to blacks for fear that having black tenants would lower the value of his property, no black had ever applied, and he did not complain about fearing the effect of black visitors on his investment.  Raymond countered any suggestion of actual racial animus by pointing to his participation in several civic projects designed to improve race relations.


11 A real estate agent, concerned about having difficulty selling the remaining vacant lots in a subdivision if he sold two to blacks, offered to waive closing costs, a discount given all white purchasers, only if the black found buyers for the other lots.


14 Despite lame explanations by counsel for appellee that he intended only to impeach the witness.


3 Defendants rented to at least two tenants who had gone into personal bankruptcy and who had had accounts turned over to collection agencies, and rented to at least seven other tenants who had been sued for collection of debts.  One tenant had no credit references whatsoever and another had a history of late payments on his credit accounts.  The evidence at trial showing the poor credit histories of these tenants was undisputed.  Defendants did not deny that they or the resident managers were aware of these poor credit histories. Francis Walker testified at trial that credit reports were not required of all applicants.  She even admitted that she would not have been surprised to learn that 73 of the 209 tenants who had rented at the Traces had not had their credit histories evaluated by independent credit reports.


4 Defendants rented to numerous tenants whose employment was not verified and to others who were unemployed at the time they were accepted as tenants. Marable introduced evidence showing that 172 out of 213 white applicants did not have their incomes verified in their credit reports.  Mrs. Walker testified at trial that credit reports are not required of all prospective tenants, only a “majority.”


5 Defendants rented to at least one tenant who had been evicted from another apartment for non�payment of rent.  Several applicants who had never previously rented were accepted as tenants.


7 Marable introduced evidence that defendants rented to 28 single white males and 25 single white females.


8 The engagement shortly thereafter broke off and Marable remains single.


9 Although Marable stated in his deposition that he placed a deposit to secure the apartment, he ad�mitted at trial that he did not place a deposit.


10 Marable testified that Mrs. Sims, at the conclusion of that telephone interview, told him that his credit was “A�OK” or “perfect” but Mrs. Sims testified that she made no such statement to Marable.


11 Mrs. Sims testified that she made an effort to contact the Feather Corporation but was unable to locate an address or telephone number.  Defendants’ own evidence showed that Feather was a duly in�corporated Alabama corporation.


12 Mrs. Sims confirmed in her testimony that Equifax considered Marable to be reliably employed.


13 Marable gave undisputed testimony that the jewelry store account had been timely paid.


14 An I�2 rating was the second highest credit rating on a scale of I�1 to I�9.  An I�2 rating indicated that Marable had paid an installment at least once in more than 30 days but not more than 60 days, or that he had not more than one installment payment past due.  The credit report, however, stated that Marable had no amounts past due on his bank loan account.  Defendants did not claim that Marable was behind on his car payments until the trial, when Mrs. Walker claimed that this was another reason she did not rent to Marable.


17 This alleged “smartness” occurred after Marable was informed that he was not an acceptable tenant and after he suggested that his race was the reason for his rejection.  The smartness was first mentioned as a reason for rejection at trial; it was not mentioned in defendants’ statement to HUD, their answer to the complaint, their depositions, or their answers to interrogatories.  Marable’s so�called smartness, as alleged by Mrs. Walker at trial, has been described in defendants’ appellate brief as Marable’s “very bel�ligerent,” “abusive,” and “obnoxious” phone conversation.


18 Even though many of the tenants whose credit histories were far worse than Marable’s had been allowed to rent apartments prior to the time Francis Walker became personally involved in management of the Traces Apartments, Mrs. Walker has had an ownership interest in the Traces complex since its inception.


19 Mrs. Walker testified that she gave potential tenants the benefit of the doubt in considering their applications.  Also defendants’ appellate brief states that they were “selective and discreet” in making exceptions to their policy of not renting to singles.


20 One of the witnesses, Jean Sharp, a former resident manager at the Traces Apartments, testified that she was instructed by Mrs. Walker to refer all applications from black applicants to her if Ms. Sharp could not “handle it.” Ms. Sharp also testified that Mrs. Walker told her that Mr. Walker “would just die” if she rented to a black applicant at the Traces Apartments.


8 This rationale finds succor in United States v. Yonkers Bd. of Educ., 837 F.2d 1181, 1221-23 (2d Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 486 U.S. 1055 (1988), in which the court of appeals held the city liable for Fair Housing Act violations. Though the city's liability derived from the actions of a 12-member city council, the court focused almost exclusively on statements by the mayor (who had only one vote on the council) and race-based opposition expressed by a few other councilors. The court did not premise its decision on a requirement that a majority of the council had acted out of impermissible motives.


11 The record does show that one council member who voted against the ordinance, John Medeiros, called the plaintiff and asked why “they” were trying to get rid of her. But the plaintiff provided no insight into who “they” might be and no evidence that “they” comprised a majority, or even a significant bloc, of the City Council.


6 Testimony at trial revealed that the population of southeastern Whitman has remained all white.


7 HUD later re-approved the project under Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §2000d, which incorporated a “balancing” concept to HUD’s site-approval procedures. “Balancing” permitted the approval of a project that would not advance racial integration if that project was paired with another that would produce a measure of integration. Here, the Whitman project, which would foster integration, was to be paired with the “Morton Addition”, a project to be located in an all-black area. The approval of the Morton Addition was contingent upon the building of the Whitman project. Despite the failure to construct the Whitman project, the Morton Addition has nevertheless long since been completed and occupied.


10 As the district court determined, “City Managing Director Corleto stated that Multicon would not receive police assistance.” 


12 Mayor Rizzo testified at trial that “I had a strong feeling when I ran for election, it was crystal clear, that I would preserve the neighborhoods of the City at any expense.”


14 Testimony before the district court revealed the following:


After Mayor Rizzo’s election in November of 1971, he had several meetings with James Greenlee, who was at that time both general counsel for RDA and Chairman of PHA. In November of 1971, Mr. Greenlee, as general counsel for RDA, gave a legal opinion to RDA, which was subsequently forwarded to HUD on November 23, 1971, that all required procedures had been followed in the planning and development of the Whitman Park Townhouse Project, and that no further public hearings were necessary. After Mayor Rizzo was elected Mayor in November, 1971, but before he took office in January, 1972, Mr. Greenlee, as Chairman of PHA, met with Mayor Rizzo to discuss the housing program in the City of Philadelphia. Mr. Greenlee testified that the Mayor’s support was necessary to develop any type of housing program in order to assure passage of the necessary ordinances before City Council. After discussion of the proposed public housing plans, Mayor Rizzo expressed disfavor as to the sites proposed. Mayor Rizzo stated that he considered public housing to be the same as Black housing in that most tenants of public housing are Black. Mayor Rizzo therefore felt that there should not be any public housing placed in White neighborhoods because people in White neighborhoods did not want Black people moving in with them. Furthermore, Mayor Rizzo stated that he did not intend to allow PHA to ruin nice neighborhoods. 


22 Arlington Heights also suggests reference to a sixth evidentiary source, legislative or administrative history, but that factor is not applicable here.


23 The Court in Washington v. Davis did observe that


It is also not infrequently true that the discriminatory impact ... may for all practical purposes demonstrate unconstitutionality because in various circumstances the discrimination is very difficult to explain on nonracial grounds.


Mr. Justice Stevens, concurring in Washington v. Davis, suggested that under certain circumstances (e. g., where the “disproportionate impact” is “dramatic”), the inquiry into discriminatory purpose may well be subsumed by the inquiry into, and the  finding, of discriminatory effect. See, e. g., Castaneda v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482 (1977) (disparate impact in Texas’s “keyman” system of selecting grand jurors held sufficient proof of discriminatory intent). 


Nonetheless, for most cases the Court’s admonition in Washington v.  Davis must be heeded:


Disproportionate impact is not irrelevant, but it is not the sole touchstone of an invidious racial discrimination forbidden by the Constitution.


Once such a “disproportionate impact” is shown, the normal course will be to search out other facts which, in conjunction with that impact, will demonstrate an “invidious discriminatory purpose” as well.


4 Although there is some dispute in the record concerning the precise relationship between Chauvin and Brougham, Chauvin worked for Brougham on a commission basis, and he specifically referred to her as his employee and rental agent.  As discussed elsewhere in the opinion, Brougham’s liability arises directly from establishing discriminatory policies and procedures.  In addition, discriminatory conduct on the part of Chauvin in her capacity as Brougham’s rental agent or employee is attributable to Brougham as owner and managing partner of Brougham Estates.  Phiffer v. Proud Parrot Motor Hotel, Inc., 648 F.2d 548, 552 (9th Cir.1980) (“The duty of the owner ... to obey the laws relating to racial discrimination is non�delegable.”)


5 Defendants introduced evidence indicating that in 1983 total black occupancy was 20% and in 1984 total black occupancy was 25%.


� William N. Eskridge, Jr., Overruling Statutory Precedents, 76 Geo. L.J. 1361, 1410-11 (1988).


� William Blatt, Interpretive Communities: �PRIVATE ��	The Missing Element in Statutory Interpretation (2001).


� See Richard Posner, Economics, Politics, and the Reading of Statutes and the Constitution 49 U. Chi. L. Rev. 263, 275 (1982).


� See William N. Eskridge, Jr. & Philip P. Frickey, Cases And Materials On Legislation:  Statutes and the Creation of Public Policy 839-42 (2d Ed. 1995).


� Blatt, supra note 2.


11 Although Sheila intended to move into the apartment alone at the outset, Joseph intended to move in after their marriage (and ... was a potential tenant on July 5).


12 [George Jilek’s deposition] says:


     Q: When did you first become aware that Mr. Cato was black?


     A: When I looked at him.


13 Because Jileks rejected Catos as tenants before receiving their application, Catos’ ability to rent the apartment was not completely clear at the time the claimed discrimination took place.  Sheila did offer to place a full security deposit on the apartment, and the very fact that Catos have been living in the apartment since September 1990 confirms their financial ability to rent it.  Understandably Jileks have not raised lack of ability as a defense, nor have they submitted evidence countering Catos’ assertion that they were able to rent the apartment.  That will therefore be considered an undisputed fact.


14 In the Title VII employment discrimination context, Terbovitz v. Fiscal Court of Adair County, 825 F.2d 111, 115 (6th Cir.1987) has held that the prima facie case analysis is not necessary when plaintiffs offer, and the finder of fact believes, direct evidence of discriminatory intent:  “Direct evidence and the McDonnell Douglas [prima facie case] formulation are simply different evidentiary paths by which to resolve the ultimate issue of defendant’s discriminatory intent.”  Direct evidence of discrimination, if credited by the fact finder, removes the case from McDonnell Douglas because the plaintiff no longer needs the inference of discrimination that arises from the prima facie case.  Upon crediting the plaintiff’s direct evidence, the district court finds facts requiring the conclusion that unlawful discrimination was at least a “motivating factor” for the employer’s actions....  The existence of unlawful discrimination is  patent, and if the employer does not propose an alternative explanation for its actions, Title VII liability will automatically follow.


16 Fear of “trouble in the neighborhood” or the reaction of other tenants does not, of course, excuse the racially motivated rejection of tenants. 


17  Kuhnen says that when he called George to set up the appointment to view the apartment, “George Jilek then inquired if [Kuhnen] was white stating ‘I hate asking that question, but there have been lots of blacks coming by to see the apartment.’” 


18  Kuhnen relates that conversation in these terms:


George Jilek told affiant that the other day a white woman came to apply for the apartment.  George Jilek said that he “could have killed her” because she was marrying a black man.  George Jilek then said that he objected to blacks living in his building because the neighbors would not like it.  He also said if one moves in they all start moving in and there aren’t any of “them” in the area.  He further stated that he told the white woman that the current tenant was not going to move.


19 Although Price Waterhouse deals with Title VII employment discrimination, our Court of Appeals has extended its approach to Title VIII in Bachman v. St. Monica’s Congregation, 902 F.2d 1259, 1263 (7th Cir.1990) – not a startling extension, given the general tendency of the courts to apply Title VII jurisprudence in Title VIII cases.  ...


Even as this opinion is being written, Congress has acted to change the impact of Price Waterhouse legislatively.  But because the legislation would amend only Title VII in that respect (and not Title VIII), and because Bachman cites to the Supreme Court’s analysis of the original statute in Price Waterhouse (a legal analysis that is presumably untouched by later legislative changes), this opinion indulges the pro-Jilek inference—this time legal, not factual--that the undiluted  Price Waterhouse standard continues to control in Title VIII “mixed-motive” cases.


20 Plaintiffs’ lawyer, and not Jileks’, asked that question (which may account for its leading nature).  It may be that counsel was not fully sensitized to the nuances of the required causal nexus under Price Waterhouse, which can render a “mixed motives” case a less likely candidate for summary judgment.
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